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MISSION

Quality and Equitable Healthcare for all

VISION

To enhance the quality of health for all by developing strategic policy frameworks for effective co-ordination and guidance of the professions through:

•        Setting healthcare standards for training and practise in the professions registered with the Council;

•         Fostering compliance with standards;

•         Ensuring on-going professional competence; and

•         Protecting the public through engagement in matters involving the rendering of health services
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SECTION 0NE

Prof. Mochichi Samuel Mokgokong
President, HPCSA

PRESIDENT’S REPORT

The HPCSA is committed to promoting and protecting South Africans’ right to quality healthcare. In the process, the HPCSA 
will continue in its endeavours to guide the professionals to ensure that the high quality and standards of healthcare 
delivered by the health care practitioners are maintained. This annual report bears testimony to that.  

The HPCSA is committed to promoting and protecting South Africans’ 
right to quality healthcare. In the process, the HPCSA will continue in 
its endeavours to guide the professionals to ensure that the high quality 
and standards of healthcare delivered by the health care practitioners 
are maintained. This annual report bears testimony to that.

This report coincides with South Africa celebrating twenty years of 
democracy which also saw a transformation of the Council from being 
a South African Medical and Dental Council (SAMDC) to Health 
Professions Council of South Africa (HPCSA). The HPCSA has also 
seen a growth over the years of registered practitioners. This calls for 
celebration and as we do so, let’s not forget the millions of citizens 
dependent on our services, and that we continue to update our 
knowledge about emerging new diseases.

In the past two years, the Council has visited all the Provinces in the 
country - some of them twice – to raise awareness among practitioners 

about the Council and ethical issues that affect them in their practices. 
These were well attended and practitioners participated so extensively 
in discussions that as Council we have decided to continue with these 
roadshows.

ETHICAL ISSUES

The Council prides itself on the ethical guidelines it gives to the 
practitioners to ensure compliance and adherence to ethical principles 
through its committees.

1. Undesirable Business Practices Committee (UDBP)

 This Committee is mandated to foster adherence to the Council’s 
broader ethical rules and regulations such as employment of 
practitioners, ownership of shares in private hospitals, franchising, 
sharing of fees, and other modern day managed health care 

DESTINY IS NO MATTER OF CHANCE, 
IT IS A MATTER OF CHOICE. IT IS NOT 
A THING TO BE WAITED FOR, IT IS A 
THING TO BE ACHIEVED.

WILLIAM JENNINGS BRYAN
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Employment of 

Practitioners

Ownership of 

Shares

Mobile Practices Business Models

21-May-13 4 3 2 3

1-Aug-13 6 4 1 2

27-Nov-13 5 2 0 4

19-Mar-14 4 5 1 2
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challenges which in any event have found expression through 
the Policy adopted by the Council. 

 This committee was very busy in the year under review and met 
four times to deal with these applications. Most of the applications 
received related to the employment of practitioners in private 
entities, followed by applications for ownership of shares, mobile 
practices and business models. Below are applications received 
in the year under review.

 To foster compliance, the committee issued a media statement 
advising all corporate entities that employ healthcare practitioners 
to regulate their businesses in compliance with the Health 
Professions Council of South Africa’s ethical and regulatory 
framework and were given up to August 2013 to comply. They 
were also advised to enter into service level contracts with health 
practitioners as opposed to employment contracts. 

 Practitioners employed in private hospitals/clinics to provide 
emergency care were advised to ensure that their clinical 
duties were aligned to the specific protocols for which special 
permission for employment had been granted. Also, health 
practitioners were warned against handing over of practice 
numbers for use by their employers as this constitutes an unethical 
practice. 

 In exercising its mandate the Committee has noticed an increase 
in the number of applications for the establishment of new 
business ventures especially for mobile units in the Radiography 
field. The Committee, although focussing on the business model, 
noticed that some of the applications bypassed the Radiological 
Society of South Africa or the Radiology board.

 Some of the applications relating to new business ventures were 
not approved due to failure by the applicants to comply with 
the application requirements in that certain information relating 
to non-disclosure of share-holding in the proposed establishment 
were not submitted. This prerequisite is aimed at ensuring that 
health practitioners do not partner with non-registered persons. 
Secondly, the information on contracts or lease agreements is 
needed by the Committee to eliminate any element of perverse 
incentives and unlawful sharing of premises.

2. Human Rights, Ethics And Professional Practices 
Committee (HRP)

 This committee is set up primarily to promote respect for human 
rights and the rights of patients amongst persons registered with 
Council and to advise the Council and Professional Boards 
accordingly on such matters.
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 In the year under review, the committee met three times to deal 
with issues related to ethics including stem cell transplants. This 
committee raised concerns relating to the abandonment of patients 
by practitioners who were doing Remunerative Work Outside Public 
Service (RWOPS) and requested that the Department of Health 
and practitioners be warned about abandonment of patients and 
students.

 The Committee noted issues related to dual registration by 
practitioners and that,though this is allowed, there were concerns 
about the possibility of over-servicing. This was communicated to 
the professional boards for their input with the view of having the 
rule reviewed. 

3.  Health Committee 

 This Committee regulates/advises impaired practitioners who suffer 
from mental or physical conditions or the abuse of or dependence 
on chemical substances which affects the competence, attitude, 
judgment or performance of a student or a person registered in 
terms of the Health Professions Council Act, (Act 56 of 1974) 
section 51.

 The Committee had five meetings between April 2013 and March 
2014 in Johannesburg, Pretoria, Durban, Port Elizabeth and 
Cape Town respectively. The committee was able to interview 
practitioners in the different provinces and noted that some of the 
practitioners interviewed were not aware of the Health Committee’s 
objectives and functions. They appeared to believe that the Health 
Committee’s role was punitive towards reported practitioners and 
the Committee was able to inform the practitioners otherwise. The 
committee advised that the HPCSA’s visibility in rural areas still 
needs to be improved by providing information to the public about 
its objectives and functions. 

 There has been a steady increase in new numbers of practitioners 
reported to the committee: in 2012/2013, the increase was 25, 
and 2013/14 the number increased to 56.

 Many cases reported are related to alcohol abuse, physical 
problems, mental illness, substance abuse, drug abuse and misuse.

ADVICE AND GUIDANCE TO PRACTITIONERS IN RELATION TO STUDYING 
ABROAD

With the demand for medical school admission in South Africa far 
outweighing the available spaces in our universities, the Council has 
observed an increase in the number of students studying abroad, only 
to find upon their return to South Africa that the medical qualification 
obtained is not always regarded as equivalent to, or of the same 
standard as those obtained locally. 

Not all medical qualifications obtained abroad are recognised by 
the HPCSA.  Each application for registration is thus considered and 
a determination of the requirements is made which may include need 
for additional training and/or some form of examination such as the 
Board examination as a prerequisite for registration. 

The Council therefore cautions students who are considering 
studying medicine abroad to be well informed about the registration 
requirements they will need to comply with if they would like to 
register and practice in South Africa. These are available on our 
HPCSA website.

PATIENT ABANDONMENT

Whilst the Council recognises that RWOPS is allowed by government, 
the Council condemns a practice by some doctors that results in 
patients being neglected.

The Council, through road shows and communiqués, has reminded 
practitioners that it is unethical to leave patients unattended and 
abandoned as this is against the HPCSA’s code of conduct. If this is 
the case, unprofessional conduct needs to be reported to the HPCSA 
for further investigation. The Council is aware that not everybody 
is abusing the system, and is extremely grateful to those who offer 
their time to ensure quality patient care is a priority. We would like to 
thank those practitioners who selflessly give up their time and remain 
committed to all their patients in both the public service and private 
practice.

The HPCSA will continue to act in accordance with its mandate, and 
as expected, to make recommendations to the Minister of Health on 
matters that pertain to public health interest, in terms of Section 13 of 
the HPCSA Act.

ISSUES RELATING TO THE MANDATE

The Professional Board for Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene feels 
vindicated after a High Court judgment that forced Dental Assistants 
to be registered with the HPCSA. The case was dismissed with 
costs against the South African Dental Association. According to the 
judgement of 07 March 2014, as from 7 March 2016, no person 
shall be entitled to work as a Dental Assistant or be employed as a 
Dental Assistant without registration, which in accordance with the law 
would be a prerequisite for practising as a Dental Assistant within the 
Republic of South Africa. 

Any person employing an unregistered Dental Assistant will be guilty of 
an offence and, on conviction, be liable to a fine or to imprisonment 
for a period not exceeding 12 months, or to both a fine and such 
imprisonment. Anyone who currently is working as a Dental Assistant 
and not registered with the HPCSA is urged to enroll for the formal 
Dental Assisting course at an accredited education institution.  
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IN MEMORIAM

The HPCSA mourns the untimely passing of Professor Siphiwe 
Ngcobo. Professor Ngcobo was a well-respected member of the 
Executive Committee and a chairperson of the Quality Assurance 
Committee, a member of the Education and Training Committee and 
a board member of the HPCSA’s Professional Board of Psychology.

We also remember the passing of a world renowned icon for peace 
and reconciliation, Tata Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela. Tata left the 
nation with hope and the belief that anything is possible as long as 
you are prepared to trudge through the test of times. Tata Madiba 
once said that “What counts in life is not the mere fact that we have 
lived. It is what difference we have made to the lives of others that 
will determine the significance of the life we lead.”

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The HPCSA continues to uphold excellent stewardship and 
governance principles as determined by the King III Report in 
executing its mandate.

The Council’s Audit Committee is chaired by an independent 
external person to ensure that our relationships with our stakeholders 
are honest and transparent. The Committee was satisfied at the 
acceptable manner in which risks have been managed. 

Our accountants have expressed an unqualified opinion on the 
annual financial statements for the period, and I am pleased to refer 
you to the independent auditor’s opinion on page 70 of this report.

In concluding my report for the 2013/14 financial year, I wish to 
thank the Honourable Minister of Health, Dr Aaron Motsoaledi, for 
his confidence in and support of the HPCSA.  

I also extend my heartfelt thanks to all Council members, Professional 
Boards and the administration for their dedication to serving the 
professions and public.

Prof. Mochichi Samuel Mokgokong
HPCSA President 



6
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REGISTRAR’S REPORT

Dr. Buyiswa Mjamba-Matshoba
HPCSA Registrar and Chief Executive Officer

It is my pleasure and honour to present to you the 2013/14 Annual Report of the Health Professions Council of South 
Africa. The Council and its administration have continued with its function to ensure guidance is given to the practitioners 
and that the public is protected.

This year has seen an increase in the number of registered practitioners 
from 2012/13 to 2013/2014. The registration division processed 
a total of 17 929 registrations, additional qualifications and 
category changes, and registered 14 100 students.

In a bid to meet the increasing demands of healthcare registration in 
the country, HPCSA embarked on a nationwide off-site registrations 
campaign of qualified students entering the healthcare profession.
 
The aim of the campaign was to assist interns and community service 
practitioners to register and be ready to commence their internship 
and community service on time, which is ordinarily at the beginning 
of the year. This initiative is also aimed at reducing traffic flow at the 
walk in centre at the Council’s Head Office in Pretoria.

In the 2013/14 financial year, Council registered 2252 
undergraduates and practitioners at the off-site virtual offices which 
were set up at the University of the Western Cape, Stellenbosch 
University, University of Cape Town, University of KwaZulu-Natal 
(all campuses), King Edward the VIII hospital, Durban University 
of Technology, the University of Limpopo and Nelson Mandela 
Academic Hospital at Mthatha.  

Also assisted with off-site registration were 376 final year students 
at the University of the Witwatersrand and MEDUNSA. We extend 
our appreciation to the universities for affording us the opportunity to 
utilise their facilities for this process.

THE FIRST RESPONSIBILITY OF A 
LEADER IS TO DEFINE REALITY. THE 
LAST IS TO SAY THANK YOU. IN 
BETWEEN, THE LEADER IS A SERVANT.

MAX DE PREE
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Communicating and engaging with our stakeholders is vital to foster 
transparency, respectful leadership and competent governance. 
One of the ways in which the HPCSA achieved this was through 
roadshows in the various provinces. 

The topics varied from informing the practitioners about the 
ethical issues, to what the Council does and informing them on 
the availability of information to guide them. We would like to 
acknowledge and thank the Wits Steve Biko Centre for Bioethics 
for their support in delivering some of the ethics lectures.

Besides the Council roadshows, the Professional Boards conducted 
their own roadshows to educate the practitioners registered with 
them on issues relating to their specific professions.

Interaction with Counterparts

We continue to enjoy fruitful relationships with counterparts to foster 
improved collaboration and synergy.

A delegation from the HPCSA attended the Federation of State 
Medical Boards’ annual meeting, held in Boston Massachusetts, 
which dealt with administration in medicine, continuing professional 
development, patient-centred care, managing disruptive behaviour, 
and ensuring public protection in dynamic healthcare delivery. 

Another group also paid an informative visit to the Australian Health 
Practitioner Regulation Agency and the General Medical Council in 
the United Kingdom to discuss the sharing of best practices.

The HPCSA again played a pivotal role in the organisation of the 
17th Annual Association of Medical Councils of Africa (AMCOA) 
conference which was held in Rwanda in August 2013. AMCOA 
serves as a forum for medical regulatory authorities in the African 
region to share views and exchange information on matters of mutual 
concern.

Challenges

The HPCSA has a role to play in educating the South African public 
about standards of health care we regulate, and the recourse 
available should the standards not be in line with those determined 
by the boards.

We are succeeding with our messages to the public about their right 
to complain about healthcare services, and will strengthen our efforts 
to promote patients’ rights to access quality, affordable healthcare, to 
choose their own healthcare services, among other things.  

Human Capacity

In order to keep up with best practice on the management of human 
resources, the HPCSA focused on aligning itself with market trends 
to ensure that as Council, we continue to meet the organisational 
objectives.

The HPCSA concluded an organisational design review to ensure 
that the organisation is appropriately capacitated, thus enabling us 
to achieve our strategic goals.

In Memoriam

The HPCSA pays tribute to Siphokazi Lucia Nomonde Ncanywa, 
one of the Council’s employees, who passed away in July 2013. 
We remember her for her willingness to assist at every opportunity 
and her vibrant personality.

Acknowledgements

My sincere appreciation to our President for his continued leadership 
and the Council for its guidance. To my management team and all 
employees working at the HPCSA, I extend my gratitude for your 
support. I look forward to your continued assistance and pledge my 
support to you in the year to come which I have no doubt will be a 
fruitful one.

As the administration, we remain committed to delivering the highest 
quality of service to you.
Thank you.

Dr Buyiswa Mjamba – Matshoba
HPCSA Registrar and CEO
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CPD AND RECORDS

Strategic Objectives

The Continuing Professional Development (CPD) and Records 
Department provides an efficient process of record and document 
management while enforcing CPD regulations and guidelines for 
the Council. Part of the strategic objectives of the CPD and Records 
Department is to provide ongoing continuing development for all health 
professionals and ensure efficient, accurate and safe record-keeping of 
health professionals’ information on the data base.

Continuing Professional Development

The Department makes a proactive effort to communicate issues of 
enforcing the non-compliant process to all Professional Boards. The 
department published articles in the electronic practitioner newsletter 
(e-Bulletin) and in professional board newsletters to inform practitioners 
of the impact of non-compliance with continuing professional 
development. In addition, the division posted details of the CPD 
process on the HPCSA website. Practitioners who are still non-compliant 
after several extensions and re-audits, and who still fail to submit their 
CPD portfolios, are suspended from the register on instruction of the 
Professional Boards. 

Suspended practitioners have to apply for restoration of their names to 
the register, according to the Health Professions Act. Once they have 
proof of compliance with the CPD requirements, these practitioners 

have to follow the same procedure and pay the restoration fee (as 
prescribed in the Restoration Regulations and Guidelines) if they have 
been off the register for more than two years. Practitioners placed in 
the supervised practice category will have to apply to be placed in 
independent practice upon receipt of a compliant portfolio.

CPD Audit

During this financial period, 10,011 audit letters were sent out by the 
CPD Department. The first suspension of non-compliant professionals 
since the implementation of CPD was approved by the Professional 
Board for Medical Technology and was finalised on 21 May 2013. 
The Professional Board for Psychology and the Medical and Dental 
Board further approved the suspension of non-compliant Psychologists 
and Medical Practitioners, which were finalised on 22 November 
2013.

Records Management

A total of 27,734 change of addresses were captured by the Records 
Department.  Despite this, there is still a high volume of letters and 
certificates returned to Council. A total of 37,775 quality, hard copy 
files of professionals were audited and sent for off-site storage.  There 
are approximately only 50,000 Medical Practitioner files awaiting 
quality assurance before being sent for off-site storage to finalise the 
electronic storage of all hard copy files of professionals, to be in line 
with the Electronic Document Management System implemented by 
Council.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Ms. Marthina Venter
Acting Senior Manager

“INVESTING TIME TO LEARN 
SOMETHING IN YOUR PROFESSION 
MAKES YOU RICH IN YOUR 
KNOWLEDGE, IF YOU ARE NOT 
THEN IT WILL MAKE YOU POOR IN 
YOUR PERFORMANCE.” 

SIVAPRAKASH SIDHU
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Mr. Sikhumbuzo Zulu
Chief Financial Officer

FINANCIAL SERVICES

Strategic Objectives

The role of the Financial Services Department is to ensure that Council 
maintains satisfactory accounting records, to prepare and audit Annual 
Financial Statements and any other related information on an annual 
basis, as well as to maintain a proper system of internal controls which 
will provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievements of 
Council’s objectives.

Revenue

The operations of the Council are funded by revenue from health 
practitioners. Revenue is primarily comprised of annual fees, examination 
fees, restoration fees, registration fees and penalty fees. During the year 
under review, the revenue increased by 4,8% from R170,4 million to 
R178,6 million. 

The annual fees increased from R145,5 million to R154,7 million mainly 
due to the increase in membership and membership fees. Registration 
fees decreased by 5.3% from R17,6 million to R16,7 million.  Fees 
from penalties imposed to practitioners increased from R1,2 million to 
R2,1 million.

Expenses

Operating expenses increased to R183,4 million from R169,3 million 
representing an increase of 8,3%. The main reasons for the increase 
are as follows:

• Employment costs increased by 10.03% due to vacancies in the 
previous year that were filled in the current year, and the annual 
salary increment. The appointment of new staff resulted in an 
increase of R325,000 for placement fees.

• Computer costs increased to R1,9 million from R1,5 million due to 
the maintenance and changes required to the workflow system.

• The legal costs increased to R17,2 million from R13,7 million, an 
increase of 25,19%. The increase is due to additional legal cases 
being pursued by the Council. 

• The bad debts increased by R1,1 million due to the impairment of 
the long outstanding debts receivable that are older than 90 days.

• The labour relations expenses increased by R963,600 due to 
increases in labour-related cases.

• The bank charges increased by R1.1 million from R929,700 to  
R2 million due to high volumes of cash deposits and reversal of 
debit orders.

• Reversal of revenue due to suspension of membership as a 
result of non-payment by 9,663 health practitioners and 1,005 
voluntary suspensions represented an increase in the reduction of 
revenue of 32% from R5,2 million in the previous financial year to  
R6,8 million in the current financial year. Health practitioners from 
the Emergency Board constituted 82.1% compared to 57,9% in the 
previous financial year.

Surplus generated

The net surplus generated by Council decreased by 35% year on year 
from R23,8 million in the previous financial  year to R15,6 million in the 
current financial year ending 31 March 2014. The realised net surplus 
of R15,6 million is higher than the budgeted surplus of R1 million. The 
favourable deviation of actual experience from planned net surplus is 
largely due to expenditures savings by Professional Boards and Council’s 
Administrative Departments. 

Administrative challenges

Cash basis of revenue accounting records

The Council has maintained proper financial records during the 
2013/14 financial year. However, the financial records for revenue 
are still maintained on a cash basis (i.e. revenue recognised when cash 
is paid) which is not aligned to the Council’s accrual basis reporting 
framework.  Manual conversion of basis revenue accounting was 
performed at the financial year end to align with the accrual basis.  In 
order to provide a permanent solution, IT system changes will be done 
in the new financial year to align Council’s financial records with the 
accrual basis of accounting.

Backlogs in cash receipt allocations to invoices is still a challenge due to 
IT auto allocation not being applicable as a result of incorrect reference 
numbers being provided when payments are made. Manual clearing of 
this backlog by the Finance Department is causing significant pressure 
on existing human resources resulting in temporary employees’ costs and 
overtime work being incurred.

IT system challenges that gave rise to accounting periods not being 
closed on time have since been resolved. They are now timeously 
closed with resultant reconciliations also being attended to on time.

Information Technology (IT) Accounting System

During the current financial year, the Finance Department experienced 
an increasing number of unresolved financial transaction queries due 
to errors/bugs in the IT systems and insufficient IT storages that were 
negatively impacting processes of financial transactions. 

Hence, administrative functions such as suppliers’ payments and 
allocation of practitioners’ cash receipts could also not be timeously 
attended to. Furthermore, critical management reviews and facilitating 
analyses which play an important part in management of internal 
controls such as reconciliations and accounts balancing could not be 
done.

However, financial records maintenance issues have since been 
resolved and backlogs are being attended to in the new financial year 
ending 31 March 2015.
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Mr. Khanyiso Dube
Senior Manager

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LABOUR RELATIONS

Strategic Focus

The HPCSA strives to become an employer of choice and to create 
an environment where employees are able to develop and advance 
their careers and growth in the organisation. The HPCSA endeavours to 
keep up with best practice on how it employs and retains employees. 
The overall strategic objective of the Human Resources Department is to 
have willing, able and motivated staff in order to ensure that the HPCSA 
has capacity to deliver on its mandate. The Department aims to provide 
professional and timeous support to other departments of the HPCSA, 
allowing them to address the core operational issues of the organisation.

Overview

At every opportunity, the HPCSA focuses on keeping up with market 
trends to keep up with best practice in human resources management to 

Occupational Levels
Male Female Foreign Nationals

Total
A C I W A C I W Male Female

Top management 3 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

Senior management 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management

11 0 1 1 3 1 1 3 0 0 21

Skilled technical and academically qualified 
workers, junior management, supervisors, 
foremen, and superintendents

20 2 0 0 28 2 3 6 0 0 61

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 24 3 1 0 66 11 3 9 0 0 117

Unskilled and defined decision making 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 5

Total Permanent 65 5 3 2 101 14 7 18 0 0 215

Temporary employees 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Grand Total 66 5 3 2 101 14 7 18 0 0 216

ensure that Council meets its strategic objectives. The HPCSA concluded 
an organisation design review in the past financial year to determine if 
the organisation was structured appropriately to meet strategic objectives 
and to ascertain whether there was adequate capacity for staff to carry 
out their responsibilities. Council is expected to make decisions on 
implementation of the recommendations in the next reporting period. 

The organisation had resolved to conduct salary benchmarking in cycles 
of three years. During the year under review, decisions were made to iron 
out the implementation of the process and agreements were concluded 
with organised labour on how the process would roll out in the new year. 

Staff Profile

The staff profile reflected below reflects the distribution profile per race, 
gender and job level as at 31 March 2014. The HPCSA strives to 
align itself with the country’s demographics and to attract persons with 
disabilities.

AN ORGANISATION, NO MATTER 
HOW WELL DESIGNED, IS ONLY AS 
GOOD AS THE PEOPLE WHO LIVE 
AND WORK IN IT.

DEE HOCK



11

SECTION THREE

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 O

VE
RV

IE
W

ACHIEVEMENTS 

During the year under review, 73 % of the vacancies that existed at 
the beginning of the period had been filled. 

Filling of Vacant Positions from April 2013 – March 
2014

Vacancies Filled In progress Total

60 44 16 60
 

External 
appointments 

Internal 
promotions

Total

38 6 44

Distribution of Appointments in Terms of Race

African Indian Coloured White Total

40 3 1 0 44

Distribution of Appointments according to Gender

Male Female Total

13 31 44

STAFF TURNOVER

A total of 16 employees resigned from the organisation, and one 
was dismissed. There were two deaths in service. The turnover is 
regarded as within acceptable limits. 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The HPCSA invests in the training and development of its employees 
and contributes towards skills development. Nearly two-thirds (65%) 
of staff received training at a cost of R653,189.10 from a budget 
totalling R800,000.00. Bursaries were awarded to 21 employees 
for further development and to uplift capacity for service to the 
organisation. The HPCSA hosted six interns within the Information 
Technology Department as a contribution to skills development. 
This initiative assisted newly qualified IT students to gain valuable 
workplace experience. 

LABOUR RELATIONS

A summary of labour relations matters for the period under review 
is provided below. One matter from the previous year is pending at 
the Labour Court. It is anticipated that it will be heard during the first 
quarter of the new financial year.

Misconducts 

Coun-
selling

Verbal 
warn-
ings

Writ-
ten 

warn-
ings

Final 
written 
warn-
ings

Dis-
missals

CCMA

6 3 0 2 1 1

GRIEVANCES 

Six grievances were lodged, four have been finalised and two are 
still pending.

BARGAINING FORUM

The HPCSA has a Recognition Agreement with the National 
Education Health and Allied Workers’ Union (NEHAWU). In the 
spirit of fostering sound labour relations, a bargaining forum was 
established which met 12 times over the year to deal with matters of 
mutual interest and to conduct annual salary negotiations.

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

Leave and Personnel Records Management

Employee leave records were audited to manage the previous 
outcome which contributed to a qualified audit report for the previous 
period. The process was largely manual due to challenges relating 
to configuration of the current Oracle system. Leave balances were 
reconciled to leave utilisation to ensure an accurate reflection of 
leave liability by the organisation. An external service provider 
was appointed to verify the audit process. This process is reviewed 
monthly going forward. 

Pension and Provident Fund

The Trustees had previously resolved to move the Fund to an umbrella 
fund. A service level agreement was concluded with the umbrella 
administration. The process of transferring the Fund in compliance 
with section 14 of the Pension Funds Act 24 of 1956 as amended is 
currently underway. The transfer will be concluded after approval by 
the Financial Services Board in the new year. There are no adverse 
effects on current and previous members as a result of this process. 
Apportionment of surplus funds to members will be concluded in the 
new year, after actuaries have concluded matters related to valuation.

CHALLENGES 

Most of the HR processes are largely manual which pose a challenge 
in how they are managed. However, processes are in place to 
manage this while the HPCSA considers a longer term solution in 
line with its needs.
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SECTION THREE

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Strategic Objective

The Information Technology (IT) Department is a support arm and 
business enabler of the HPCSA. It focuses on refining the Council’s IT 
infrastructure to make sure it is on par with the latest technology trends 
and is always operational to meet its mandate and business needs.

Achievements

Off-site Registrations

The IT Department created a Virtual Office Solution to enable the 
HPCSA to register practitioners outside of the office. This was achieved 
by maximising the GMS (Global System for Mobile Communication) 
connectivity which has matured tremendously, was competitively priced 
by all cellular network providers and offered relatively high throughput 
in the major centres around the country.

The Virtual Office provided for:

Services Description No of officials

ERS system Enabling Registration and 
finance officials to register 
practitioners away from 
the office

18

Printing Services Printing Registration packs 
and other work related 
documents.

18

File share services Accessing forms and 
reference documents from 
the main office 

18

Email Services Sending and receiving 
mails

18

Internet Services Accessing the internet 6

Internet and Data Line

The Data Line was upgraded to high-speed connectivity for exchanging 
large data files and better internet speed. A four megabyte (4MB) per 
second fibre line was installed to replace the existing one megabyte 
(1MB) per second line.

Website

The IT Department upgraded its web hosting architecture to improve 
performance and reliability. The new website hosts the following 
services which aim to improve experiences: 

• I-Register
• E-Result 

ERS Support

The IT Department took the initiative of decentralising some of its 
services from the central storage which had reached its full capacity 
to ensure that the ERS system did not crash. This was done by moving 
shared files to a standalone server and cleaning obsolete files. This 
enabled Council to run bulk invoicing and to add new practitioners 
onto the system.

The CEX certificate was modified to show the first date of registration. 
One new Register was added on the system. Bulk invoicing and bulk 
suspensions were done successfully.

Statistics and Data

The IT Department is responsible for the extraction and compilation 
of statistics pertaining to the registration of healthcare professionals in 
South Africa. During the period under review, contact information such 
as e-mail addresses and mobile numbers for registered practitioners 
were extracted and used for the e-Bulletin, roadshow invitations and 
annual fee reminders.

ACCOUNTABILITY BREEDS 
RESPONSIBILITY.

STEPHEN COVEY



13

SECTION THREE

EX
EC

U
TI

VE
 O

VE
RV

IE
W

Email Services

We managed to increase the email receiving limit to 10MB and 
sending limit to 8MB. The email server was upgraded to MS 
Exchange 2010. The upgrade comes with many benefits, for 
example we were able to add some of our external members to our 
internal email distribution list.

Network

The external DNS server was upgraded to Windows Server 2008 
and a DNS server was added. This helps with the DNS name 
resolution efficiency and also provides for redundancy and failover.

Security

The account lockout challenge is now under control and every 
personal computer on the network has an up-to-date antivirus 
programme installed. 

Intranet 

The first phase of SharePoint intranet development was completed 
and published on the Microsoft Hyper-V Virtual Server. The intranet 
solution is built with the purpose to add value to the organisation by 
increasing employee participation and collaboration, and making 
internal documents and information searches more efficient and 
relevant. 

IT Internship Programme

The Department offered three learners training and experience 
opportunities in different sections of the IT department, to make 
them veterans by optimising their professional skills and giving them 
valuable experience in the Information Technology field. 

Challenges

ERS System

Oracle E-Business Suite was procured as vanilla software and 
customised to suit most of the Council’s business processes. However, 
there were some seeded configurations that were not fine-tuned 
during implementation that could potentially increase the database 
by logging events and activities on the system. We experienced an 
exponential growth on our database which degraded the system’s 
overall performance and affected operations and our turn-around 
time. The problem was discovered and resolved.

Server Room Hardware 

Hardware in the server room is outdated, therefore the latest software 
cannot be installed on them.

Calculated Financial Value of IT’s Contribution

IT Item Total Savings

Savings from not using consultants on ERS Over R1 million

Income on register and data Sales R125,180.97

Saving from not using fixed line for off-site 
registrations

Over R50,000

Total Over R1,175,180
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Adv. Phelelani Khumalo
General Manager

LEGAL SERVICES

Strategic Objectives

The Legal Department, as a functionary of the Registrar, is charged 
with the primary responsibilities of receiving, investigating, and in 
appropriate instances prosecuting cases of unprofessional conduct.  
The Legal Department also provides legal support to the Council, 
Boards and Administration. In terms of section 3 of the Health 
Professions Act,1974,  the objects and functions of the HPCSA are to 
ensure the investigation of complaints concerning persons registered in 
terms of this Act, to ensure that appropriate disciplinary action is taken 
against such persons in accordance with this Act in order to protect the 
interests of the public, to ensure that persons registered in terms of this 
Act behave towards users of health services in a manner that respects 
their constitutional rights to human dignity, bodily and psychological 
integrity and equality, and to take disciplinary action against persons 
who fail to act accordingly. 

Performance Overview

A total of 3026 complaints were received during the period under 
review.  Of these, 707 were referred to the office of the Ombudsman 
and 83 opened as Police files (unregistered people).

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

Description 2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

2903 2687 2997 3026

Achievements

It is gratifying to note that during the current financial year, all the 
Committees of Preliminary Inquiries (Prelims) were able to consider 
complaints.  Amendments brought to Regulation R.102 which relates 
to the Conduct of Inquiries into alleged unprofessional conduct have 
strengthened the powers of Prelim Committees to investigate and 
finalise matters at the Prelim level.  

NUMBER OF CASES FINALISED BY PRELIMS 

Description
2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

Explanations 
noted 
and cases 
withdrawn

554 815 734 1115

Professional Conduct Inquiry 01 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 

The following is a breakdown of matters that were referred for direct 
inquiry before Committees of Professional Conduct Inquiry and which 
were handled by various legal advisers. Penalties imposed were as 
follows: 

SUMMARY OF FINALISED MATTERS ACCORDING TO 
PENALTIES

01 April 2013 - 31 March 2014

2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

Suspensions 27 18 64 52

Acquittals 30 15 15 20

DIVERSITY: THE ART OF THINKING 
INDEPENDENTLY, TOGETHER

MALCOLM FORBES
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SUMMARY OF FINALISED MATTERS ACCORDING TO 
PENALTIES

01 April 2013 - 31 March 2014

2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

Fines Imposed 
at Inquiry

67 81 12 70

Caution & 
Reprimand

14 9 20 19

Admission of 
Guilt Fines

134 100

Postponed/
Defence 
objections 
upheld

3 1

Finalised at 
Prelim

28 60 47

Erasures 6 3 2 1

TOTAL 172 189 248 309

BREAKDOWN OF FINALISED MATTERS PER 
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

01 April 2013 – 31 March 2014

  Board 2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

1 Medical and 
Dental

138 162 184 236

2 Dental Therapy 
and Oral Hygiene

1 0 4 6

3 Dietetics 2 0 1 0

4 Medical 
Technology

0 0 0 1

5 Occupational 
Therapy, Medical 
Orthotics & 
Prosthetics

1 2 2 5

6 Optometry & 
Dispensing 
Opticians

5 6 22 16

7 Physiotherapy, 
Podiatry and 
Biokinetics

4 3 7 12

8 Psychology 14 14 20 21

9 Speech, Language 
and Hearing

4 0 1 3

10 Emergency Care 
Personnel

2 2 1 7

11 Radiography and 
Clinical Technology

1 0 6 2

12 Environmental 
Health

0 0 0 0

TOTALS 172 189 248 309

BREAKDOWN OF FINALISED MATTERS PER 
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

01 April 2013 – 31 March 2014

Type Of Offence No. Of Matters

2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

Unethical Advertising 18 13 5 6

Incompetence 5 28 10 25

Over servicing 3 2

Breach of 
confidentiality

2 3 6 9

Damaging 
Professional Reputation 
of Colleague

20 44 4

Insufficient Care/
Treatment & 
Mismanagement of 
Patients

23 5 41 36

Negligence 12 6 15 22

Unacceptable/
Inappropriate 
Relationship with 
Patients

2 3 8 5

Refusing to treat 
patients

6 5 2 5

Misdiagnosis 4 5 11 9

Practicing Outside 
Scope of competence

4 4 4 11

Fraudulent 
Certificates/Incorrect 
Information on Death 
Certificates

6 2 12 8

Refusing to complete 
forms/producing 
inaccurate reports

34 27 7 4

Overcharging/
charging for Services 
not Rendered

4 13 30 66

Issues relating to 
Consent

10 13 16 21

Fraud and theft 7 9 49 38

Bringing the 
Professions into 
disrepute

3 1 15 18

Employing 
unregistered 
practitioners

2 5 6 6

Unethical dispensing, 
using of unregistered 
medicine and 
prescribing of drugs

6 1 5 4

Contempt of Council 1 0 6 10
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BREAKDOWN OF FINALISED MATTERS PER 
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

01 April 2013 – 31 March 2014

Type Of Offence No. Of Matters

2010/
2011

2011/
2012

2012/
2013

2013/
2014

Supersession/
Contravening the 
Hazardous Substances 
Act, 1973

0 0 0 1

Practicing without 
registration

0 0 0 1

TOTAL 172 189 248 309

THE ROAD ACCIDENT FUND

A total of 2470 complaints were received during the period under 
review, 19 meetings were held, 479 matters were dealt with and 411 
cases were finalised.

RAF TRIBUNAL

01 April 2013 – 31 March 2014

Matters 
re-

ceived 

No. of 
meet-
ings 

Serious Non 
serious

De-
ferred

With-
drawn

Final-
ised  

2470 19 239 164 68 08 411

Challenges

Sanctions that are ordered by the disciplinary committees have to be 
complied with.  There is also a great need to ensure that unregistered 
persons are brought to book. Currently the Council lacks the capacity 
to enforce the sanctions that have been ordered by the committees. To 
deal with this challenge, Council has approved the establishment of the 
Inspectorate Office that will comprise of 5 inspectors and a manager. 
The Inspectorate Office will be responsible for law enforcement and 
compliance. The Inspectorate Office will, amongst others, conduct 
inspections to ensure compliance with clinical and ethical guidelines 
which are important in its quest to protect the public.

Another challenge is that complaints are not finalised within our 
stipulated time frame of 18 months. The major cause is that the Legal 
Officers who are charged with the investigations of complaints have 
high volumes of cases to investigate.  The global norm is that an 
investigator should have a maximum 300 cases to investigate.  Currently 
our Legal Officers are carrying the workload of 400-600 cases.  To 
deal with this challenge, Council has approved five additional posts 
of Assistant Legal Officers to investigate complaints.  We are confident 
that with these additional human resources Council will be able to 
finalise complaints within the stipulated period of 18 months.
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Dr. Munyadziwa Kwinda
Ombudsman

OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN

The Ombudsman’s office addresses amongst others, complaints of 
miscommunication against health practitioners and determines its 
nature and validity in terms of the Health Professions Act, Act 56 of 
1974. It renders a service of mediation and endeavours to resolve 
matters amicably, if possible. 

A total of 676 matters relating to miscommunication and tariff 
charges were formally referred to the Ombudsman’s office in the 
financial period, which excludes telephonic complaints resolved by 
the Ombudsman on a daily basis. Matters concerning tariff charges 
relates to practitioners charging more than the medical aid or 

reference price list (RPL) rates. More than 90% of complaints lodged 
are against Medical Practitioners (Doctors and Dentists).

Other complaints dealt with by the Ombudsman include bad attitudes 
and rudeness displayed in providing medical care, suspicious 
medical certificates, poor communication, practitioners refusing to 
provide patients with medical and MMF1 forms, unprofessionalism 
between colleagues and complaints against Pathologists. 

Many complaints are sorted out informally on a daily basis which 
prevents a formal complaint being laid. These informal cases may 
amount to more than formal cases referred to us.

AN ORGANISATION’S ABILITY 
TO LEARN, AND TRANSLATE THAT 
LEARNING INTO ACTION RAPIDLY, 
IS THE ULTIMATE COMPETITIVE 
ADVANTAGE.

JACK WELCH
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Ms Charmaine Motloung
Senior Manager

PUBLIC RELATIONS AND SERVICE DELIVERY

Strategic Objectives

The Public Relations and Service Delivery Department is responsible for 
media liaison, stakeholder relations, branding and marketing, internal 
communications, events, the call centre and service delivery. Our 
strategic objective is ensuring service delivery excellence, pro-active 
reputation management and ongoing communication initiatives that 
support the Council’s strategic objectives. 

Customer Service Initiatives

Since the appointment of a customer service officer who is responsible 
for the management of critical complaints, we are better able to action 
and process escalated enquiries and complaints within a 24-hour 
turnaround time.  Council generates a monthly service delivery report 
highlighting areas of concern, compliments received and the number 
of complaints received per staff member which was submitted to each 
departmental manager for remedial action.

The Client Call Centre is a critical contact point for clients with the 
HPCSA. Our records indicate that clients are increasingly making 
use of this service either via telephone or email. In the year under 
review, the Call Centre handled over 160 000 calls and just over 
25 000 email enquiries. With the increasing volume of calls and 
email enquiries received, we continue pursuing innovative means to 
address these challenges.  The Call Centre Department conducts daily 
call monitoring for quality assurance on calls and weekly coaching 
sessions with agents are held to improve quality of service.

Media Liaison and Publicity

The Council values media liaison as an important tool in informing 
stakeholders, consumers and the public at large about its initiatives to 
guide the professions and protect the public. 

Key milestones for all projects were prioritised in the Council’s interaction 
with all mass media through media statements and interviews, official 
comments as well as media briefings and press conferences. 
The Department embarked on a radio campaign targeting community 
radio stations. One hundred and thirty interviews were conducted and 
Council was able to reach close to six million listeners. 

With the all the above initiatives and responding to general media 
enquiries from local and national media, the publicity generated 
translated into R73,570000 worth of Advertising Value Equivalent 
(AVE) spend.  Media coverage was at its peak in December due to the 
much publicised disciplinary hearings of Dr. Wouter Basson, who was 
found guilty on a number of charges. The sentencing of Dr. Basson is 
due to take place in the 2014/15 financial year.

Website Revamp

The HPCSA website remains an important online gateway for 
stakeholders (HPCSA members, healthcare students, international 
medical graduates, patients and the public, employers and the media) 
to access the Council’s mandate, regulatory documents, registration 
forms, and other related documents that enable practitioners to function 
efficiently within the ambits of the law.

SYNERGY IS BETTER THAN MY WAY 
OR YOUR WAY. IT’S OUR WAY.

STEPHEN COVEY
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The website’s design and content architecture was reviewed and 
revamped during the reporting period; the new website is easy to 
navigate and is compatible with handheld devices.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Council interacts with a wide range of stakeholders including 
health practitioners, the public, medical students, state-owned entities, 
government departments, parliamentary portfolio committees, non-
governmental groups, interest groups, academic institutions and a 
variety of associations. 

Newsletters both in print and electronic formats remain the preferred 
communication medium from Professional Boards to members. 
Each of the 12 professional boards issues an annual newsletter 
for practitioners within the respective disciplines, while a generic 
newsletter is sent out to all practitioners registered with the HPCSA. 
Practitioners have been encouraged to update their email and 
cellphone numbers with Council to facilitate electronic communication 
with practitioners via email and special sms notifications, which 
allows for real-time communication.

Practitioner roadshows were held in Johannesburg, Pretoria, 
Polokwane, Bloemfontein, Kimberley, East London, Durban, Richard’s 
Bay and Mthatha.  The aim of the roadshows is to engage proactively 
with healthcare professionals on issues pertinent to the country’s 
healthcare industry; to provide the Council with an opportunity to 
showcase its achievements (including its mission, vision and strategic 
goals); and to provide a platform for valuable input and engagement 

with key stakeholders. Council was able to reach 3 850 practitioners 
and we were able to establish a footprint in the various provinces.

A national student roadshow campaign aimed at informing students 
of the importance of registering with Council as well as the process, 
the latest ethical rules and information on the HPCSA’s Health 
Committee was also conducted at the majority of tertiary training 
institutions across the country. 

Interaction with grassroots communities also takes place during the 
celebration of industry calendar days such as the World Environment 
Day and Radiography Day. Council participated in eight industry 
exhibitions. At all these occasions, Council deploys its leadership, 
and showcases its services by distributing information material and 
setting up exhibition stands. 

Internal Communication

The leadership and management of the HPCSA engage with internal 
stakeholders at the head and regional offices through a combination 
of media channels including staff meetings, intranet, a daily internal 
online publication and a quarterly print newsletter. 

The Council values communications and engagement with internal 
and external stakeholders, and can always improve this aspect 
through the availability of more human and financial resources.
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PROFESSIONAL BOARDS

Strategic Objectives

The main function of the HPCSA’s Professional Boards Department is to 
provide administrative support to the 12 Professional Boards under the 
auspices of the HPCSA that regulate the professions which fall within 
the ambit of the specific Boards. 

The overall strategic objectives of Professional Boards for the review 
period were to:

• Ensure quality services to the public and guidance to the professions
• Create an environment for professional to be proactive, effective 

and compliant
• Ensure effective, efficient, economical and accountable 

administration
• Optimise synergies between Council, Government and other 

stakeholders through constructive dialogue
• Ensure effective, efficient and economical governance in 

accordance with current best practice

Boards primarily use meetings including stakeholder engagements for 
the execution of their functions and in compliance with its mandate to 
protect the public and guide the professions. A total of 191 planned 
and extra-ordinary meetings and workshops were held during the 
reporting year to ensure that the education and training standards 
of the professions under the ambit of the Professional Boards were 
aligned with the changing education environment and legislation 
and international best practices to ensure the registration of safe and 
competent health practitioners.

The Boards evaluate and accredit education and training institutions to 
ensure that they meet the minimum education and training standards as 
determined by the Boards for the registration of competent, safe and 
ethical health practitioners.  During the review period, Boards were 
responsible for the evaluation and accreditation of 122 education and 
training providers.

Over 1970 applicants sat for board examinations during the reporting 
period, and approximately 1256, of these candidates were foreign 
qualified health professionals. 

Improving on performance of the boards

The professional boards held orientation workshops for newly 
appointed members of various boards.

The professional boards department conducted training of evaluators 
to ensure that members appointed to conduct evaluations successfully 
realise these tasks.

The professional board developed a performance assessment survey 
for the respective boards to complete and is therefore sent to the ETQA 
standing committee. This is used as a yardstick to gauge and assess 
the performance of the boards against the set objectives.

Raise awareness of the roles and responsibilities of the 
HPCSA with the public and professionals

The Professional Boards department was part of a team that went on 
the roadshow to raise awareness of the roles and responsibilities of the 
HPCSA with the professionals. A total of 4 000 professionals attended 
the roadshows.

Several Professional Boards used opportunities to engage with 
stakeholders by participating in collaborative conferences with 
respective associations countrywide.  Various boards also participated 
in internationally recognised health days, e.g. World Radiography Day 
and World Environment Day to raise awareness about the respective 
professions and  educate the public on their role in the health sector.
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REGISTRATIONS 

Strategic Objectives

The Registrations Division’s responsibility is to ensure that it registers 
all qualifying healthcare professionals falling under the ambit of the 
HPCSA, and to ensure the maintenance of an accurate and reliable 
register.

Performance Overview

The Registrations Division successfully processed the registrations of 
students at various universities to study towards a health profession 
that is registered in terms of the Health Professions Act, 1974 (Act 
No. 56 of 1974 as amended). The table below depicts the total 
number of new registrations of qualified health practitioners registered 
during the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014. 

Total Number of New Registrations of Qualified Practitioners Processed (1 Apr 2013 – 31 Mar 2014)

Profes-
sional 
Board

Reg-
istra-
tion 
Code

Registration Date

2013-
04

2013-
05

2013-
06

2013-
07

2013-
08

2013-
09

2013-
10

2013-
11

2013-
12

2014-
01

2014-
02

2014-
03

Grand 
Total

Dental 
Therapy 
and Oral 
Hygiene
(DOH)

DA 15 10 13 14 9 10 10 15 20 11 15 22 164

OH 1 2 4 1 1 2 5 14 25 6 61

TT 1  1 30 1  33

DOH Total  17 12 17 15 9 11 12 21 64 37 21 22 258

Dietetics 
and 
Nutrition
(DTB)

DT 1 2 2 14 206 2 227

NT 3 6 4 5 4 3 1  2   1 29

DTB Total  4 8 4 7 4 3 1  16 206  3 256

Environ-
mental 
Health 
Officers
(EHO)

HI 1 1 1 3   15 1 1 115 21 3 162

HIA            1 1

EHO Total  1 1 1 3   15 1 1 115 21 4 163

Emergency 
Care 
(EMB)

ANA 51 94 38 69 80 33 57 64 88 53 62 60 749

ANT 1  1 1  1   34 46 7 4 95

BAA 888 763 721 677 711 710 793 681 439 554 606 709 8 252

ECP 7 7 3 1 2 2 2 6 16 5 6 3 60

ECT 1 27 2 3 34 41 8 24 5 8 6 15 174

OECO 2   1    1  5 5 3 17

EMB Total  950 891 765 752 827 787 860 776 582 671 692 794 9 347

Ms. Kgomotso Nkoane
Acting Senior Manager
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Profes-
sional 
Board

Reg-
istra-
tion 
Code

Registration Date

2013-
04

2013-
05

2013-
06

2013-
07

2013-
08

2013-
09

2013-
10

2013-
11

2013-
12

2014-
01

2014-
02

2014-
03

Grand 
Total

Medical 
and Dental 
Professions
(MDB)

CA 4 1 2 2  1 1  68 61 3 5 148

DP 2  6 2    2 2 154 1 1 170

GC  2           2

MP 66 85 46 71 48 63 31 24 16 977 66 125 1 618

MS 4 2 4 2 2 2 1 3 3 3 2 1 29

PH          3 2  5

MDB Total  76 90 58 77 50 66 33 29 89 1 198 74 132 1 972

Medical 
Technology
(MTB)

GT 62 21 13 13 11 3 10 3 36 69 65 52 358

LA 1 1 3 14 33 3 4 4 1 4  2 70

MT  110 28 14 4 4 7 22 14 3 6 2 214

SLA  1           1

MTB Total  63 133 44 41 48 10 21 29 51 76 71 56 643

Occupa-
tional Ther-
apy and 
Medical 
Orthotics/
Prosthetics
(OCP)

AT  1         1  2

OB   1          1

OS 1 1 1 2 3  1   12 5 3 29

OSA        2 1 7   10

OT   2  1   1 37 236  1 278

OTB 1 1 4    1  1 2 3 1 14

OTT  2 3 5 1 3 1  1 2 8 2 28

OCP Total  2 5 11 7 5 3 3 3 40 259 17 7 362

Optom-
etry and 
Dispensing 
Opticians
(ODO)

OD 2 2 1 3 1 1 1 1    1 13

OP 4 2 2 2 5 1 1  31 34 16 17 115

ODO Total  6 4 3 5 6 2 2 1 31 34 16 18 128

Physiother-
apy, Podia-
try and 
Biokinetics
(PPB)

BK 6 11 8 2 3 4 4 4 19 25 22 33 141

CH   1  2 1 3 2 4 2  1 16

PT 3 1 2 4  1 1 1 36 277 5  331

PTA    1  1     1  3

PTT  2 1 6 2 1 1      13

PPB Total  9 14 12 13 7 8 9 7 59 304 28 34 504

Psychology PMT 16 9 3 14 23 7 10 22 8 9 6 27 154

(PSB) PRC 54 36 16 19 31 19 12 29 22 18 12 23 291

 PS 27 26 12 12 12 13 9 17 27 108 19 53 335

PSB Total  97 71 31 45 66 39 31 68 57 135 37 103 780

Radiogra-
phy and 
Clinical 
Technology
(RCT)

DR 1 1 2 2 3 2  5 5 358 1  380

EE            1 1

KT 5 7 3 1 3 1 4 2 2 21 5 9 63

KTG 4 6 3 3 3 3 4 3 2 4 5 6 46

RCT Total  10 14 8 6 9 6 8 10 9 383 11 16 490
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Profes-
sional 
Board

Reg-
istra-
tion 
Code

Registration Date

2013-
04

2013-
05

2013-
06

2013-
07

2013-
08

2013-
09

2013-
10

2013-
11

2013-
12

2014-
01

2014-
02

2014-
03

Grand 
Total

Speech, 
Language 
and 
Hearing 
Professions
(SLH)

AU  2 1  2 1 2 1 1 55 1 3 69

GAK   1       1  3 5

SAA        1     1

SHA        1     1

ST 3   1   2  1 87 1 1 96

STA         1 40   41

SLH Total  3 2 2 1 2 1 4 3 3 183 2 7 213

Grand 
Total

 1 238 1 245 956 972 1 033 936 999 948 1 002 3 601 990 1 196 15 116

The table below illustrates the total number of new registrations of health practitioner interns during the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

Total Number of New Intern Registrations Processed (1 Apr 2013 – 31 Mar 2014)

Profes-
sional 
Board

Reg-
istra-
tion 
Code

2013-
04

2013-
05

2013-
06

2013-
07

2013-
08

2013-
09

2013-
10

2013-
11

2013-
12

2014-
01

2014-
02

2014-
03

Grand 
Total

Medical 
and Dental 
Professions
(MDB)

IN 67 31 34 38 20 6 10 447 633 64 56 88 1 494

MSIN 8 1 4 6 1 3 1 3  3 3  33

PHIN      1    7 2 1 11

MDB Total  75 32 38 44 21 10 11 450 633 74 61 89 1 538

Medical 
Technology 
(MTB)

MTIN 45 37 14 12 13 16 9 6 7 21 60 67 307

MTB Total  45 37 14 12 13 16 9 6 7 21 60 67 307

Occupa-
tional Ther-
apy and 
Medical 
Orthotics/
Prosthetics
(OCP)

OSIN  1 2 1    10 1 7  22

OCP Total 1 2 1    10 1 7  22

Physiother-
apy, Podia-
try and 
Biokinetics
(PPB)

BKIN 15 9 25 6 13 12 8 6 8 10 16 18 146

PPB Total  15 9 25 6 13 12 8 6 8 10 16 18 146

Psychology
(PSB)

PSIN 22 14 11 13 9 6 8 12 124 120 57 22 418

PSB Total  22 14 11 13 9 6 8 12 124 120 57 22 418

Grand 
Total

 157 92 89 77 57 44 36 474 782 226 201 196 2 431

The division processed certificates of status, certified extracts, intern duty certificates and attended to verification of credentials.  The below 
table outlines the number of certificates issued for the period April 2011 to April 2014.
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Growth Statistics of other services rendered/certificates issued during the four year period:
01 April 2010 -31 March 2014

Service Rendered April 2010 -
March 2011

April 2011 -
March 2012

April 2012 -
March 2013

April 2013 -
March 2014

Issued Certificates of Status 1 401 3 162 3 894 2 894

Issued Certified Extract 1 101 1 605 1 667 944

Issued Intern Duty Certificate 99 679 689 413

Processed Verification of Credentials 264 526 1 389 1 352

Grand Total 2 865 5 972 7 639 5 603

The division experiences challenges with non-compliant applications which emanate from applications for registration or restoration from 
practitioners who do not meet the requirements as set by the various Professional Boards.  The off-site registrations assisted the division to reduce 
the number of non-compliant applications received by 6.7%. 

Non - Compliant Applications 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

8 632 9 079 9 237 8 618

Registrations also attended to various applications and requests 
from 46 523 practitioners who visited the Client Contact Centre. In 
addition, they registered a total of 713 foreign qualified practitioners 
and provided 598 extensions on restricted/limited registrations for the 
same period.

Achievements

The Division conducted an off-site verification of 376 applications 
of final year students at the University of the Witwatersrand and 
MEDUNSA where applications for registration from undergraduates 
were collected, processed at the HPCSA offices and the registration 
packs were delivered to the university.  The Division registered 2 252 
undergraduates and practitioners at the off-site virtual offices which 
were set up at the University of the Western Cape, Stellenbosch 
University, University of Cape Town, University of KwaZulu-Natal (all 
campuses), King Edward VIII hospital, Durban University of Technology, 
the University of Limpopo and Nelson Mandela Academic Hospital 
in Mthatha.  The project assisted the HPCSA to reduce the rate of 
non-compliant applications received from undergraduates who were 
unreachable as they move from the university area to the various 
hospitals where they are placed for their internship and/or community 
service.  Applicants were able to ensure that their applications met 
the requirements and were then promptly registered.  The interns 
and community service practitioners were registered and ready to 
commence with their internship and community service on time.  

The Division attended to the resolution of the Professional Board for 
Radiography and Clinical Technology where the registration category 
of Clinical Technologist was split to have a separate register for clinical 
technologists that hold a B-tech degree.  The Division successfully 
converted 338 KT registrations to the KTG register.  The Board further 
resolved that clinical technologists who obtained their National 
Diploma prior to April 2002 had to be registered in the category 
of Private Practice and those that qualified post April 2002 had to 
be registered in the category of supervised practice.  A total of 208 
clinical technologist entries were amended to reflect supervised or 
private practice accordingly.

Challenges Experienced

The Registrations Division faced a number of challenges which included 
unexpected system failures. At times walk-in clients were sent back 
without being assisted, and there were instances where print jobs could 
not be released and practitioners could not get their registration packs 
on time.  The Post Office posed the biggest challenge as practitioners 
could not receive their practicing cards due to the Post Office strike.  
This resulted in numerous complaints.  A number of practitioners did not 
use their registration number when depositing the annual registration 
fees, which resulted in some being erroneously suspended from the 
register for non-payment of annual fees.  The erroneous suspensions 
were rectified upon receipt of the proof of payment of the applicable 
annual fee. 
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Ms. Olivia Fisher
Support Services Officer

SUPPORT SERVICES

Strategic Objectives

The team’s efforts during 2013/2014 were guided by the following 
key strategic objectives:

• To provide a facilities management system by way of maintaining 
Council’s assets and ensuring the upkeep of buildings;

• To manage the internal and external mail service efficiently; and
• To reproduce the bulk of Council’s documents, including agendas 

and minutes for all committees and subcommittees as well as the 
Professional Boards.

Overview

Apart from managing its key objectives, the Department continued its 
supportive role in other services which included coordinating venues 
and tea services, rendering a stationery supplies service and providing 
administrative support to the Tender Committee.  Due to the HPCSA’s 
ever-growing staff complement, the team was continually faced with 
the challenge of providing office space for newly appointed staff.  
This was partially accomplished by converting some of the offices 
into open plan offices and grouping various departments together to 
enhance work flow.

Other key activities and achievements

The Department was particularly surprised and proud when it was 
announced at the HPCSA year-end function that the team had 
succeeded in winning the “Department of the Year Award”. This 
award was last received in 2003 and 2004. The Department of the 
Year is possibly the most sought after award within HPCSA! Other 
departments vote for a department which is regarded as having the 
best internal and external service, the best spirit and communication 

standards, sense of urgency, and which made a contribution to 
realising Council’s goals. The prize for this esteemed award is a 
floating trophy; a lunch outing for the department and an incentive 
trip to a surprise location for the manager and partner.

Appointment of new service providers

During the period under review, the HPCSA Tender Committee held 
three meetings to consider the following:

• Cancellation of the security contract due to inefficient services 
rendered and the temporary appointment of another security 
company.

• Awarding of contracts for the procurement of: 
 (i) access control and surveillance systems, and
 (ii) a generator

Contracts for various services directly related to the functioning of 
the department will be expiring in 2014 and invitations for these 
services will be advertised and new service providers appointed 
following the adjudication process by the Tender Committee.

Upgrading

During the period under review, the Department managed to 
complete several maintenance projects and is pleased with the 
finalisation of a tender process for the installation of a biometric 
access control and surveillance system for both HPCSA buildings as 
well as for a standby diesel generator for the main building.  The 
generator was needed  to ensure a continued service delivery to 
practitioners in the unforeseen event of power outages.  Provision 
was also made in the budget for a generator for the Metrodenpark 
building. Considering the age of the buildings, some of the offices 
and floors were in dire need of refurbishment and space planning 
projects provided an opportunity to simultaneously revamp some of 
the offices in the buildings.

Focus for the next year

Due to the ever growing staff complement and the increase in the 
practitioner registers, Council remains challenged with a shortage 
of office space for staff and clients, especially during peak periods.  
Therefore, in order to proactively prepare for Council’s future growth 
requirements, the focus for the coming year will be to commence 
expansion and development of the acquired garage premises 
adjoining the HPCSA (Metrodenpark) building. An alternative solution 
would be to acquire an existing newly developed building that suits 
the requirements of the HPCSA. This option however is still under 
review.  To date the garage premises have been successfully re-
zoned for consolidation with the Metrodenpark Building. In addition, 
a generator for the Metrodenpark Building will also be acquired.

The HPCSA is currently investigating possibilities of installing 
additional water tanks in both its buildings to ensure that work is not 
disrupted due to unforeseen events.
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FOR DENTAL THERAPY AND ORAL HYGIENE
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Ms. Vidyah Amrit
Chairperson

OVERVIEW 

During the 2013/14 financial year, the Board focused on the quality 
assurance of education and training, the increase in student intakes 
and the offering of the education programmes of the professions under 
the ambit of the Board, and the promotion of Continued Professional 
Development (CPD) compliance. 

The Board aligned the education programmes of the professions 
under its ambit with national imperatives and the Higher Education 
Qualifications Sub-Framework (HEQSF) to ensure progression, 
advancement, articulation and the development of the Dental Therapy, 
Oral Hygiene and Dental Assisting professions, taking into consideration 
the oral health needs of the population, burden of disease, evolution 
within these professions and the advancement in technology. In this 
regard, the Board appointed a Task Team to develop postgraduate 
qualifications for Dental Therapists and Oral Hygienists and a post 
qualification for Dental Assistants. The Task Team was also mandated 
to develop draft criteria for the accreditation of clinical training sites, 
since the Board during its evaluation visits for re-accreditation of the 
education and training programmes identified a need for standardised 
criteria for clinical training sites.

The Board did not increase the annual fees payable by practitioners 
for 2014/15.

The Board identified potential risks and developed a risk plan to 
enable the Board to manage and mitigate these risks. 

The Board also faced legal challenges relating to the registration of 
Dental Assistants. The case was heard in the High Court in November 
2013 and the Court dismissed the application to set aside the 
regulations relating to the registration of Dental Assistants with costs. 
This ruling entrenches the Board’s mandate of protecting the public and 

guiding the professions by ensuring that practitioners who obtained 
the necessary knowledge, training and skills are registered with the 
HPCSA and as such allowed to treat the South African public. The 
court ruling recommended a two year moratorium period during which 
period the Council would not, in terms of the Health Professions Act, 
exercise its statutory duty to prosecute as an offence any person who 
practises as a Dental Assistant without being registered as such with 
the HPCSA, or any Dentist, Dental Therapist, Oral Hygienist and health 
facility who employs an unregistered Dental Assistant.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

At its strategic planning session, the Board reviewed its strategic 
objectives and aligned the strategic plan, operational and risk 
management plan with national imperatives and the developments 
within the educational environment. In keeping with the Board’s 
strategic objectives, the increase of student intakes and increase 
in the offering of education and training programmes in Dental 
Therapy, Oral Hygiene and Dental Assisting remain a key priority of 
the Board, in order to address the oral health needs of the population 
of South Africa and to support the NHI Plan and Human Resources 
of the Health Plan. 

The Board also had at least one stakeholder meeting per annum 
in the different provinces. The Northern Cape is the only province 
where a stakeholder meeting did not take place during the period 
under review; the meeting took place in 2014. The Board also had 
meetings with representatives of the Council on Higher Education, 
the Department of Higher Education and Training, and the Nelson 
Mandela Metropolitan University. The Board also intends to meet 
with the new University in the Northern Cape and the Central 
University of Technology in the Free State during 2014 to discuss the 
possible implementation of the education and training programmes 
of the professions under the ambit of the Board.
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The Board actively participated in the HPCSA road shows during 
2013. The Board issued two press releases to caution the public 
and potential students against non-accredited training providers 
and also on maintaining healthy teeth for a healthy life on World 
Oral Health Day. 

In compliance with its strategic objective to ensure the 
implementation and maintenance of quality education and training 
programmes for the registration of competent and appropriately 
qualified practitioners, the Board developed draft criteria for the 
accreditation of clinical training sites. The Board evaluated the 
education and training programmes in Dental Assisting, Oral 
Hygiene and Dental Therapy for re-accreditation. 

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

The Board views issues around professional conduct in a very serious 
light and is in the process of reviewing the ethical rules specific to the 
professions under its ambit. The Board has also requested its CPD 
providers to focus on CPD activities that are relevant and to address 
issues such as the ethics around the prescribing of medicines as the 
list of medicines for prescribing by Dental Therapists was published 
in the Government Gazette in September 2013. 

The Board is concerned about the large number of complaints relating 
to fraudulent practice in terms of medical aid claims, as well as 
some issues of practising outside the scopes of practice. The Board 
wishes to reiterate that the onus is on practitioners to be familiar 
with their scopes of practice and the ethical rules relating to the 
conduct for practitioners registered under the Health Professions Act, 
1974. The Committee of Preliminary Inquiry addressed the backlog 
in complaints that had accumulated since the Board’s inception. 

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING THE STANDARDS OF EDUCATION 
AND TRAINING

The Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene education and training 
programmes are aligned with the Higher Education Qualifications 
Sub-Framework (HEQSF) and the Board is in the process of aligning 
the Dental Assisting programme to comply with the requirements of 
a Higher Certificate. The Board will consider the matter relating 
to a Mid-level Health Worker, and especially as to which of the 
professions under the ambit of the Board would best fit this national 
requirement.

The Board met with the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University to 
discuss the possible implementation of education programmes for 
the professions under the Board’s ambit and also had a meeting 
with the Department of Higher Education and Training to discuss the 
increase of students in the Dental Therapy, Oral Hygiene and Dental 
Assisting programmes at the universities currently offering these 
programmes. The possible implementation of these programmes 
at the new universities in the Northern Cape and Mpumalanga as 
well as universities currently not offering the programmes was also 
discussed. The Board submitted a position paper in this regard to 

the Department of Higher Education and Training. Part time courses 
in Dental Assisting are currently offered by the Central University of 
Technology Free State, the Durban University of Technology and 
Tshwane University of Technology. The Board is also investigating 
the possibility of implementing Dental Therapy and Oral Hygiene 
programmes by Universities of Technology. There are some of 
universities that showed interest in the implementation of these 
programmes.

The Board developed post graduate qualifications for Dental Therapy 
and Oral Hygiene and a post qualification for Dental Assisting 
to provide for articulation, progress and development of these 
professions. The draft qualifications will be circulated to stakeholders 
for comment and input.

The draft criteria for the accreditation of clinical training sites have 
been circulated to stakeholders for comment, and the Board is 
awaiting the responses from the stakeholders. 

In keeping with the Board’s strategic objective and its legislative 
mandate of setting and maintaining minimum standards in education 
and training, the Board evaluated the programmes offered by the 
University of Limpopo (Medunsa Campus) and the University of 
KwaZulu Natal during 2014. The Board will conduct the evaluations 
for re-accreditation at the University of Pretoria and the University 
of the Western Cape during 2014, and at the University of the 
Witwatersrand early in 2015. The Board will then have completed 
all the evaluations for re-accreditation within the 5 year evaluation 
cycle. The Board required the education institutions to submit 
institutional annual reports at the end of January of each year to 
ensure that quality issues are addressed timeously. 

Universities have implemented the Board’s revised qualification 
for Oral Hygienists and the first cohort of students qualified at the 
University of Pretoria at the end of 2013.

The Board has advised professional associations and CPD providers 
of its serious concern about the high number of practitioners who are 
CPD non-compliant and requested them to focus on issues such as 
fraudulent claims, and the risks and ethics relating to the prescribing 
of medicines by Dental Therapists. The Board has also requested 
the HPCSA’s CPD Department to review the annual report template 
for CPD providers to include information such as the full scientific 
programmes of CPD activities, names of speakers, CVs and topics 
of speakers, and abstracts of presentations to enable the Board 
to improve the quality assurance of the CPD activities offered by 
the CPD providers. The Board at its stakeholder meeting put great 
emphasis on the importance of compliance to CPD requirements and 
advised practitioners that non-compliance will result in the suspension 
of the registration. 

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

The registration statistics for all registration categories as at 6 May 
2014 are as follows:
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BRD_CODE REG_CODE Total

DOH DA 2973

 DA S 1669

 OH 1101

 OH S 322

 TT 610

 TT S 206

DOH Total  6881

The Dental Assisting profession has been regulated since 2005 and 
HPCSA registration is a prerequisite to work as a Dental Assistant. 
Practitioners who work as Dental Assistants without being registered as 
either a Student Dental Assistant or Dental Assistant are contravening 
the Health Professions Act, 1974 (Act 56 of 1974). 

However, the High Court ruling in November 2013 recommended 
a two year moratorium.   As from 7 March 2016, the HPCSA will 
exercise its statutory duty to prosecute as an offence any person who 
practises as a Dental Assistant without being registered as such with 
the HPCSA; or any Dentist, Dental Therapist, Oral Hygienist and health 
facility who employs an unregistered Dental Assistant. It should be 
noted that in order to work as a Student Dental Assistant and Dental 
Assistant the person must be registered as a student for the formal 
Dental Assisting programme at an accredited education institution, or 
hold a valid qualification from such an institution. 

The Board urges Dental Assistants in possession of the formal Dental 
Assisting qualification from an accredited education institution, but not 
yet registered with the HPCSA, to register and those who are not in 
possession of the formal qualification to register for this course with an 
accredited education institution. 

The Board also urges those currently registered as Student Dental 
Assistants under the Grandfather Clause to write the Board examination 
to enable them to register as Dental Assistants. The Board will conduct 
the last Board examination for these practitioners in August 2016. 
Individuals cannot remain on a student register indefinitely and those 
Student Dental Assistants registered under the grandfather clause that 
have not availed themselves of this opportunity will have to enrol for 
the formal Dental Assisting programme at an accredited education 
institution when the Board phases out the Board examination in August 
2016.

The Board is pleased with the examination process of its fourth Board 
examination in August 2013, and also received positive feedback 
from candidates about the examination. Of the 121 candidates who 
wrote the exam, 76 passed, while there were 30 failures and 15 
did not arrive for the examination. The next Board examination was 
conducted on 19 August 2014.
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FOR DIETETICS AND NUTRITION
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Prof. Edelweiss Wentzel-Viljoen
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND BOARD STRUCTURES  

Overview and Status on Strategic Objectives 

In May 2013, the Board approved the updated Strategic Plan 
document. It also deliberated at its Board meeting of 2 October 
2013 on how strategic goals would be achieved. The report of the 
Chairperson of the Board on the rationale for strategic plan was 
noted in the Board meeting. The Board summarised the integration 
as follows:

Vision 

A trustworthy, credible, transparent and accountable Board that 
serves the interest of the profession and the public.

Mission

To protect and serve the public and guide the profession. The above 
is given practical effect through ensuring excellence of dietetics and 
nutrition service delivery and thereby protecting the South African 
public by:

• Maintaining and enhancing the quality of practice;
• Safeguarding the integrity of dietetics and nutrition professionals 

registered with the Board;
• Promoting the nutritional health of all South Africans;
• Being a Board that is willing and able to be efficient in their 

support and service delivery;
• Communicating effectively to all stakeholders.

The Process

The strategic plan is in line with the following:

1. The mandate of the Board in terms of the Amendment Act;
2. The Strategic Plan of Council (2010 – 2015);
3. The current ten point plan of the Department of Health;
4. The delivery agreement of the Department of Health’s Outcome 

2: A long and healthy life for all South Africans;
5. The draft national plan for human resources for health for South 

Africa.

Strategic Objectives of the Board

1. To optimise the efficiency of the Board in ensuring that it fulfils 
its regulatory role and responsibilities;

2. To ensure standards of education, training and professional 
practice  of Nutritionists;

2.1 To implement the register for Nutritionists;
2.2 To develop the register for Assistant Nutritionists;
2.3 To ensure standards of education, training and professional 

practice of Dietitians;
2.4 To perform SGB functions;
2.5 To revise the scope of the profession of dietetics;
2.6 To investigate specialisation in dietetics;
2.7 To report on training of the research task team – community 

service;
2.8 To enforce regulatory/ethical requirements;
2.9 To address requests for registration of members of the South 

African Association for Nutritional Therapy (SAANT).
3. To review and implement an effective communication strategy;
4. To contribute towards an effective CPD system and managing 

non-compliance;
5. To enhance the professional and ethical practice of practitioners;
6. To address the registration of food service managers.



30

SECTION FOUR

ALIGNMENT OF THE BOARD’S STRATEGIC PRIORITIES WITH NDOH AND HPCSA STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

HPCSA National Department of Health Dietetics and Nutrition Board

I.  Create an environment for professional 
Boards to be proactive, effective and 
compliant

A.  Provision of strategic leadership and 
creation of a social compact for better 
health outcomes

1.  To optimise the efficiency of the Board in 
ensuring the fulfilling of its regulatory role 
and responsibilities

B.  Implementation of National Health 
Insurance (NHI)

II.  Ensure quality health services to the 
public and guidance to the professionals

C.  Improving the Quality of Health Services 2.  To ensure standards of education, training 
and professional practice of dietitians

3.  To enforce regulatory/ethical requirements

4.  To ensure standards of education, training 
and professional practice of nutritionists

5.  To perform SGB functions

6.  To enhance the professional and ethical 
practice of practitioners

7.  To contribute towards an effective CPD 
system and managing non-compliance

D.  Overhauling the health care system and 
improving its management

III.  Ensure effective, efficient, economical 
and accountable administration

IV. Ensure effective, efficient and 
economical governance in accordance 
with current best practice

E.  Improved Human Resources Planning, 
Development and Management

8.  To develop the register for assistant 
nutritionists

9.  To address requests for registration 
of members of the SA Association for 
nutritional therapy (SAANT)

10. To implement the register for nutritionists

11. To revise the scope of the profession of  
dietetics

12. To address the registration of food service 
managers

F.  Revitalisation of physical infrastructure

G.  Accelerated implementation of the HIV 
and AIDS strategic plan and the increased 
focus on TB and other communicable 
diseases

V.  Optimise synergies between council, 
government and other stakeholders 
through constructive dialogue

H.  Mass mobilisation for better health of the 
population

13. To review and implement an effective 
communication strategy

I.  Review of drug policy

J.  Strengthen Research and Development 14. To report on training research task team – 
community service

15. To investigate specialisation in dietetics
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The Term of Office of the Board 

The term of office of the Board ends in July 2015. This item was 
placed on the agenda of the stakeholder meeting held on 15 and 
16 February 2014 to inform stakeholders that the HPCSA was 
initiating the process of inviting nominations for practitioners to serve 
on the board for the next term of office. 

Task Team on Situational Analysis Study 

The Professional Board appointed a task team to determine the extent 
of overlaps in the scopes of practice for the Dietetic and Nutrition 
professions. Following this exercise, the Board resolved to conduct 
a situational analysis study. The Task Team conducted one meeting 
during the period under review on 17 March 2014. The purpose 
of the situation analysis was to define the roles and competencies of 
the Nutrition Professional (NP) in the well-being of the South African 
population. The terms of reference are as follows:

a.  To provide appropriate background information of the current 
situation;

b.  To describe the role of the nutrition profession (current and future 
opportunities) in the different sectors;

c.  To describe the skills and competencies required to execute these 
roles;

d.  To establish the number of known practitioners in the sectors;
e.  To establish the required number of NPs in the sectors;
f.  To compare the skills and competencies of the NP as identified 

with the current skills and competencies for dietitians and 
nutritionists as contained in the SGB documents; 

g.  To make a recommendation to the Professional Board for Dietetics 
and Nutrition on the way forward by 11 July 2014.

Meetings 

The Board conducted the following meetings for the period under 
review:

• Professional Board meetings – 15 and 16 May 2013; 02 
October 2014;

• Executive Committee meetings – 24 July 2013; 17 March 
2014; 

• Education Committee meetings – 25 July 2013; 27 February 
2014.

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING 

Revised schedule of evaluation of Dietetics and 
Nutrition 

The revised schedule of evaluation of Dietetics and Nutrition at 
education institutions was approved by the Board on 2 October 
2014.

Evaluation of Education and Training Facilities

The Board conducted evaluations on education and training facilities 
of the University of Limpopo and Medunsa Campus on 18 and 24 
June 2013.

Application for Accreditation of Training Programmes 

The Board discussed the accreditation of the programmes of the 
following universities:

• University of Limpopo (Dietetics programme) – The Board 
approved the accreditation of the Dietetics programme of the 
University of Limpopo in February 2014;

• University of Cape Town (Alignment of the BSc Med Hons in 
Nutrition and Dietetics training programme for Dietetics) – The 
Board approved the accreditation programme in July 2013;

• University of the Free State (Dietetics programme) – The Board 
approved the accreditation of the University of the Free State on 
27 February 2014.

Accreditation: Four Year Nutrition Programme 

The Education Committee resolved that new applications for 
accreditation of training of nutritionists for a four year degree 
programme would not be accepted. The Board is currently reviewing 
the Nutritionist programme and the new application will only be 
considered once the situational analysis work has been completed.

Guidelines for registration of Foreign Qualified 
Nutritionists 

The Board developed guidelines for registration of Foreign Qualified 
Nutritionists (entry level competencies).

Review of Form 271 – Evaluation of Institutions of 
Higher Learning 

At the stakeholder meeting of 27 February 2014 with the Heads of 
Departments and Clinical Managers, it was recommended that Form 
271 on Evaluation of Institutions of Higher Learning be reviewed and 
updated. The form was circulated to universities for comment.  The 
HESA representative on the Board was mandated to ensure that the 
guidelines of the Board were consistent with the HPCSA guidelines 
on the evaluation of education and training. Ratings would be 
removed from the section that was completed by institutions. The 
Education Committee was mandated to include minimum standards 
in the revised document.
 
Public Awareness Campaigns 

A stakeholder meeting with Heads of Departments and Clinical 
Managers also recommended that a task team be established 
to develop a plan for awareness campaigns. The task team was 
mandated to formulate recommendations on key activities which the 
Board can deliberate on as a part of its strategic objective pertaining 
to public awareness campaigns. 

Advertisement of Non-Accredited Programmes by 
Universities 

The Board noted at its meeting on 02 October 2014 that certain 
universities created a false impression that their programmes were 
accredited by the Board. The Board advised the universities in 
question that the information on the website was misleading as the 
programmes were accredited by the Board.
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Examination for Registration as Nutritionists – 
Grandfather Clause

The Board resolved that applicants must approach universities 
training in Nutrition for re-examination arrangements and future Board 
examinations (university entry examination). The University of Venda 
and North West University were requested to facilitate the Nutrition 
Board examinations on behalf of the Board.

Erasure List 2013

The Board has advised the Association of Dietetics in South Africa 
(ADSA) and the Nutrition Society of South Africa that if their members 
were erroneously included in the list of practitioners who should be 
suspended from the HPCSA due to non-payment of fees, the affected 
members should urgently inform the HPCSA on this state of affairs. 
The updated list of practitioners suspended due to non-payment was 
placed on the HPCSA website.

ADSA and Social Media Communication Guide 

On 2 October 2014, the Board resolved that ADSA must be informed 
of the draft guidelines on social media communications submitted for 
comments and inputs should be revised. The guidelines should be 
based on the HPCSA guidelines and current ethical booklets which 
are subservient to the Health Profession Act, 1974.

Collaboration of Dieticians with Companies Selling 
Slimming Products 

The Board received enquiries about whether it is permissible for a 
Dietitian to work in collaboration with companies selling weight loss 
products. The Board resolved that it is not permissible for a Dietitian 
to endorse products or work in collaboration with companies selling 
weight loss products. 

Nutritionists Forum 

The Nutritionists Forum was held from 15 -16 May 2013 to discuss 

(a)  CPD Activities and Accredited Service Providers; 
(b)  The creation of Nutrition Posts within Primary Health Care facilities; 
(c)  Advertising of Nutritionist positions; 
(d)  The meeting between the Department of Health, the Board and 

the Nutrition Forum to discuss issues pertaining to the future of the 
Nutritionist in South Africa. 

The Board resolved that the task team on scope be mandated to ensure 
that the food security is adequately catered for in the training curriculum 
for Nutritionists.

Appointment of Unqualified Persons as Integrated 
Nutrition Programme Managers 

The Board addressed a letter to the National Department of Health 
and provincial offices regarding allegations that the Department was 
appointing unqualified Nutritionists.

Nutritionists working as Dietitians

The Board received complaints that there were Nutritionists appointed 
in Dietitian posts and performing the Dietitians’ work at clinical facilities. 
The Board resolved that this issue would be raised with all Nutritionist 
managers in the nine provinces.

FINANCIAL AND BUDGETARY MATTERS 

Financial statements 

According to the financial statements of the Board ending March 
2013, it functioned well within its budget provision and incurred no 
overspending during this period.

Approval 2014/15 Budget and Annual and Registration 
Fees

The Board approved the proposed budget for 2014/15 financial 
year during its meeting on 2 October 2014. The Board also resolved 
that annual and registration fees payable for 2014 be determined as 
follows:

REGISTER  2012 2013 2014

DT Dietitians 1238.00 1312.00 1312.00

SDT Supplementary 
Dietitians

1238.00 1312.00 1312.00

NT Nutritionists 1238.00 1312.00 1312.00

SNT Supplementary 
Nutritionists

1238.00 1312.00 1312.00
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FOR EMERGENCY CARE
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Mr. Raveen Naidoo
Chairperson

OVERVIEW

The focus for 2013/2014 was to optimise administrative efficiency, 
quality assurance of education and training of the professions that fall 
under the ambit of the Board, and to promote Continued Professional 
Development (CPD) compliance. The Board aligned the education 
programmes of the professions under its ambit with national 
imperatives and the Higher Education Qualifications Sub-Framework 
(HEQSF) to ensure progression, advancement, articulation and the 
development of the Emergency Care profession and to also keep 
track with the evolution within this profession and advancement in 
technology.

The Board is in the process of reviewing the protocols of the 
professions under its ambit to ensure well researched and evidence-
based protocols. 

In its annual operational planning meeting, the Board identified 
potential risks and developed a risk plan to enable the Board to 
manage and mitigate these risks. One of the main risks that still 
remains is the quality assurance of education and training. The Board 
also completed a self-assessment document of its performance, 
which has been submitted for consideration to the HPCSA ETQA 
Committee.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

During the 2013/2014 reporting year, the Professional Board for 
Emergency Care tirelessly pursued the strategic areas for promotion 
namely: the regulation of education and training standards, 
professional practice, registration compliance and stakeholder 
participation.

The Board reviewed and aligned the education and training 
programmes, as well as the evaluation and accreditation criteria, 
the examination rules, guidelines for failure of refresher course 
assessments and policies relating to the moderation of examinations 
to ensure currency and relevance. The Board developed a code 
of conduct and declaration of confidentiality to be completed and 
signed by moderators of all examinations. 

One of the strategic objectives of the Board is to identify and promote 
niche areas in Emergency Care research and for this purpose the 
Board established a Research Committee. The Board also provided 
input on the National Draft Regulations relating to Emergency 
Medical Services and the Draft Regulations relating to Health and 
Medical Services at Mass Gatherings. 

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board developed a Domestic Violence Screening Policy which 
has been approved by the HPCSA and will be implemented across 
the Professional Boards under the ambit of the HPCSA.

The Board held media briefings arranged by the Public Relations 
Department to advise the South African public of their rights and 
caution practitioners against any criminal, unprofessional and 
unethical conduct and also make the public aware of non-accredited 
training providers. Media releases were also issued in this regard.

Communication with our stakeholders continues to be priority area 
for the Board. In keeping with one of its strategic objectives, the 
Board met with stakeholders in the Free State, the North West 
Province and Gauteng during 2013. The Board has now visited 
all 9 provinces and will initiate a second round of stakeholder 
meetings during 2014. These meetings will take place in other 
major locations within the provinces of the Eastern Cape, Western 
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Cape and Northern Cape. The Board also participated in the HPCSA 
road shows and submitted contributions for the e-Bulletin on matters 
relating to emergency care. Due to challenges with regard to access 
to CPD, the Board conducted CPD workshops in conjunction with the 
stakeholder meetings in the Free State and the North West Province.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

The Board acted on complaints relating to inappropriate patient 
care, submission of fictitious claims, practicing outside of the scope 
of practice, taking photographs at accident scenes and distributing 
these on via social media. The Board also received quarterly status 
reports on professional conduct matters to enable it to monitor progress 
as well as trends in complaints. The backlog of complaints has been 
addressed significantly. However, one of the main reasons for the delay 
in finalisation of complaints is that practitioners are not responding to 
requests for explanations, and correspondence is often returned by the 
post office because practitioners fail to advise Council of their change 
of addresses.

The Board will review its ethical rules, once the review of the protocols 
has been finalised, to ensure that the ethical rules are in line with the 
protocols.

The Board is monitoring CPD compliance, assessing the nature of 
CPD activities to determine the relevance thereof, and assessing the 
annual reports of CPD accreditors and CPD providers. The two CPD 
workshops conducted in the Free State and the North West Province 
were free of charge, and emphasised ethical practice in emergency 
medical services. 

The Board conducted a workshop with current CPD providers and 
CPD accreditors to discuss the nature, relevance and quality of CPD 
activities, especially with reference to the trends in complaints relating 
to professional conduct matters. 

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING

The general powers of the Professional Boards as contained in section 
15B.(1)(b) of the Health Professions Act, 1974 (Act 56 of 1974), 
make provision for Professional Boards to “appoint examiners and 
moderators, conduct examinations or evaluations, grant certificates, 
and charge such fees in respect of the examinations, evaluations or 
certificates as may be prescribed”. In terms of section 15B (1)(c) a 
Professional Board “may, subject to the prescribed accreditation 
process and prescribed conditions, including the submission of reports 
by accreditation teams or evaluators appointed by the Professional 
Bboard, accredit teaching institutions and training facilities.” 

The Board is in the process of evaluating all the accredited education 
and training providers for re-accreditation. The Board conducted 
evaluations at 17 accredited training providers and will complete all 
the evaluations towards the middle of 2015. The Board is concerned 
about the number of education and training providers that were non-
compliant with the Board’s accreditation criteria. The Board withdrew 
the accreditation of six providers, as it has a legislative mandate to 
ensure that practitioners are competent and appropriately trained to 
render quality health care services to the population of South Africa. 

The Board also evaluated and accredited four new education and 
training providers. 

The Board revised its evaluation and accreditation criteria, moderation 
policy and moderators’ report template, and examination rules to 
ensure the registration of competent and appropriately qualified 
practitioners. The moderators’ report template has been revised to allow 
for a narrative report, not  merely a ‘yes’ or ‘no’ checklist. The Board 
developed a code of conduct and declaration of confidentiality that 
has to be completed and signed by the Board appointed moderators 
and external moderators appointed by the training providers.

Education and training providers are required to submit annual 
institutional reports to enable the Board to monitor compliance and to 
identify shortcomings in between evaluations.

The Board acted on complaints lodged against practitioners and 
education and training providers by conducting several impromptu 
inspections across the country. The Board conducted six impromptu 
inspections where complaints had been received that training in 
emergency care was conducted by non-accredited providers.

Workshops were conducted for public colleges and private colleges 
on the HEQSF requirements and the need for the alignment of the 
National Certificate: Emergency Care, which entitles the holders 
thereof to registration with the HPCSA as Emergency Care Technicians. 
This qualification has to be reviewed and aligned to the HEQSF 
requirements of a 240 credit; NQF level 6; National Diploma 
qualification. Providers have been advised that the teach-out date of 
the National Certificate is 31 December 2016.

The Board is in the process of developing formal qualifications for 
Emergency Medical Services Management, Emergency Medical 
Dispatch and Medical Rescue.

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

The registration statistics for all registration categories as at 6 May 
2014 were as follows:

REGISTRATION CATEGORIES TOTAL

Basic Ambulance Assistants 56,047

Ambulance Emergency Assistants 8 515

Operational Emergency Care Orderlies 553

Student Paramedics 575

Paramedics 1 599

Student Emergency Care Technicians 731

Emergency Care Technicians 781

Student Emergency Care Practitioners 505

Emergency Care Practitioners 290

TOTAL 69,596

The Board remains concerned with the high number of removal of 
names from the registers, mainly due to the non-payment of annual 
registration fees, especially in the BAA category where more than 
7500 were removed in 2013 alone.
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FOR ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH PRACTITIONERS
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Mr. Jerry Chaka
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The mission of the Professional Board for Environmental Health 
Practitioners is: “A visible board leading the Environmental Health 
Profession towards excellence.” The Board has an obligation 
to protect the interest of the public through effective and efficient 
activities by:

• Enhancing the quality of environmental health by developing 
strategy and policy frameworks, related to promotional  and 
preventative interventions;

• Monitoring the quality of training against set standards;
• Promoting the principle of excellent professional practice by 

ensuring ongoing professional competence;
• Ensuring effective communication with members and other role 

players.

Goal Strategic Objectives
1.  Ensure registration of all 

practicing EH practitioners 
according to the Health 
Professions Act

1.1 Monitor compliance of 
EHP/As with legislative 
requirements to practice

2. Facilitate well trained and 
competent environmental 
health professionals

2.1 Establish registration 
system for EHAs

2.2 Review the registration 
system for EHPs

2.3 Monitor education and 
training standards

Goal Strategic Objectives
3.  Enhance the position of 

the environmental health 
profession within the health 
care delivery system

3.1  Interaction with National, 
Provincial and Local 
government on plans 
and strategies for 
environmental health 
services

3.2  Interaction with 
stakeholders and 
Government departments

3.3  Constant and effective 
communication with 
stakeholders

4.  Enhance CPD in 
environmental health

4.1  Implementation of the CPD 
system of Council

4.2  Promote Research and 
development

OVERVIEW

The Board continued to successfully interact with relevant stakeholders 
in building relations towards improving delivery of environmental 
health services in the country. All 12 meetings were held as planned 
for the Board and its committees/task teams. 

The Board continued to monitor and give support to education and 
training institutions by offering environmental health programmes, 
conducted evaluations at three institutions and accrediting 
programmes that met minimum requirements as set by the Board.

A delegation of five officers from the Environmental Health Officers 
Registration Council of Nigeria met with the Board where best 
practices were shared.
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PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board has high regard for interactions with its stakeholders, 
particularly practitioners, as these engagements enhance the position 
of the profession within healthcare delivery system. 

Communication Initiatives

Constant and effective communication through the newsletters and 
Council’s e-Bulletin, remained a priority over the past year. The 
newsletter was distributed at the well-attended stakeholder meeting 
held in Mahikeng, North West in October 2013. Practitioners were 
addressed on matters pertaining to the functioning of Council and 
the Professional Board. An hour-long presentation on ethics in the 
profession was also made, giving the attendants 2 CEUS general and 
2 CEUs for ethics. The third issue of the Board’s  newsletter during this 
term of office was published in October 2013. Articles highlighted the 
Board’s major achievements, misconduct by environmental healthcare 
professionals, an update on the Municipal Health Services Summit 
for South Africa, and the monitoring of initiation schools in Limpopo 
province by Environmental Health Practitioners, among others.  

Public Engagement

In 2013/14, the Board had active interactive and fruitful meetings with 
employers (National Department of Health, metropolitan municipalities 
of Ekurhuleni, Cape Town and Nelson Mandela Bay) addressing 
critical issues such as placement of graduates for community service; 
the importance of registration of students and practitioners, adherence 
to legislative requirements including CPD and explaining the role and 
mandate of the HPCSA. 

The Board and its Secretariat participated in practitioner roadshows 
organised by the Public Relations and Service Delivery Department. 
These roadshows gave practitioners and the Board an opportunity to 
interact and with queries.

The Board was represented at the annual World Environmental Health 
Day celebrations held on 25-26 September 2013 at Turffontein, 
Johannesburg. Over 500 Environmental Health Practitioners from all 
over the country attended the event. Having an exhibition at the event 
afforded the Board an opportunity to provide information about its 
activities and operations, and to deal with queries related to Board 
functioning.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

Scope of practice

A Task Team appointed by the Board developed draft regulations and 
scope of practice for registration of Health Promotion Practitioners. 
These draft documents will be approved by the Board in June 2014 
and be tabled at the Council meeting in June 2014 for approval. 
Once approved by Council, the regulations will be processed through 
National Department of Health for promulgation.

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING

Continuing Professional Development (CPD)

Ongoing monitoring of provision of activities for Continuing 
Professional Development continued to ensure that accredited activities 

and programmes were appropriate and relevant to develop and 
benefit the practitioners. CPD service providers have been encouraged 
to increase the number and quality of Ethics programmes, a critical 
component of CPD.

New qualifications

In 2013 the Board finalised consultations with education and training 
institutions on the development of the new professional degree for 
environmental health practitioners. The new degree and curriculum will 
allow graduates to be competent environmental health practitioners, 
environmental specialists and researchers. It will also provide 
practitioners with the ability to improve the health of the community and 
the environment and  contribute to sustainable development. Successful 
graduates will be able to evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency 
of control measures in order to make the necessary improvements. 
The Board has now reviewed and approved curricula from all seven 
institutions as required in terms of HEQSF.

Four of the seven higher education institutions offering environmental 
health in the country are ready to introduce the professional degree 
programme in January 2015.

The Board re-embarked on developing a qualification for 
Environmental Health Assistants. It is envisaged that a two year 
diploma for Environmental Health Assistants will be introduced once 
the qualifications for these professionals are finalised.

Quality control

Evaluations for accreditation of higher education institutions offering 
environmental health programmes were conducted in May, June and 
November 2013. The Board continued to monitor and give support 
to education and training institutions offering these programmes, 
ensuring that graduates that were produced were competent to work 
independently in offering quality services to their communities. Three 
universities were audited during the year and conditions to be complied 
with before accreditation could be granted were communicated to the 
institutions.

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

During roadshows and Board stakeholder meetings and other 
communication channels, practitioners were encouraged to ensure 
they were registered with Council and have up-to-date registration. This 
resulted in a steady growth of the register for EHPS from 4721 in 2010 
(at the beginning of this term of office) to 5738 in March 2014.

Attention given to legislative framework:

1. Regulations relating to the registration by Environmental Health 
Practitioners of Additional Qualifications: Amendment was 
promulgated in February 2014. 

2. Regulations defining the scope of the profession for Environmental 
Health Practitioners: Amendment (to incorporate scope of practice 
for EHAs) was submitted to the Department of Health for final 
promulgation in May 2011. 

3. Draft regulations defining scope of practice for health promotion 
practitioners were developed and await Board approval. 

4. Draft regulations relating to qualifications for registration of health 
promotion practitioners were developed and await Board approval. 
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FOR MEDICAL AND DENTAL PROFESSIONS
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Dr. Letticia Moja
Chairperson

OVERVIEW

The Medical and Dental Board (MDB) is responsible for the 
regulation of Medical Practitioners, Dentists, Medical Scientists and 
Clinical Associates in South Africa. The main focus of the board 
during 2013/2014 was to review its current strategic direction and 
performance levels with a view to aligning itself with its primary 
responsibility to play a significant role in regulating the medical 
professions and protecting the public. 

Accompanied with that, the Board put more effort in improving 
its overarching mandates and regulatory responsibility and also 
aligning itself with the demands and professional challenges of 
the main stakeholders such as the National Department of Health 
in providing quality health care service to the community and the 
medical training institutions, by ensuring administrative efficiency and 
strategic support for its sub-committees.

STRATEGIC MATTERS

Towards the end of 2013, the Board recognised the deficiencies in 
its existing strategic plan and therefore resolved to refine and align 
it with broad strategic imperatives of HPCSA Council. This initiative 
will assist the existing Board with a “hand-over” process when its term 
of office expires in June 2015.

The revised strategic document will also reflect performance levels of 
the Board during the period, and will serve as an invaluable tool in 
planning for future Board activities.

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

During the reporting period, the Board developed the scope of 
practice for Clinical Associates, and has resolved to circulate it to all 

other professional boards within Council as part of the consultative 
process, before promulgation.

As part of the ongoing review processes, the Board has re-evaluated 
the current standards for education and training of Specialists 
in Dentistry. On the other hand, the Board has concluded the 
Memorandum of Understanding with the Colleges of Medicine of 
South Africa (CMSA), to conduct a “Unitary Examination”, College 
Examination, which will enable practitioners to be registered in the 
category of Specialist.

The Board recognised that some universities are struggling to 
complete the specialist training for “supernumerary or self-funded” 
practitioners due to the current regulatory provision which sets five 
years as a maximum training time, after which the Registrars have to 
vacate the programme. To that effect, the board has recommended 
that the existing legislation be amended to provide five years as 
a minimum training time and provide for the allowance to extend 
training time for Registrars, based on individual and institutional 
circumstances. The extension is not automatic; an approval of the 
Board will be required for such extensions.

ACCREDITATIONS

The Board also managed to accredit training programmes and 
evaluated the training facilities as reflected in table below:

Category Committee Number of 
Accreditations

Evaluations Internship 
Committee

45

Undergraduates UET 4
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Category Committee Number of 
Accreditations

Specialists 
(Medical)

PETM 9

Postgraduate 
(Dental)

PETD 1

Medical Sciences MSC 7

Total accreditations and evaluations: 67

BOARD EXAMINATIONS

The HPCSA Board examinations, conducted by various universities on 
behalf of the HPCSA, continued to be effective and met the evaluation 
and assessment standards expected before foreign qualified 
practitioners are registered in various practice categories, as provided 
for in the HPCSA regulations. 

However, the Board is in the process of reviewing the current 
examinations model to be in line with general standards of professional 
assessments and also be equitably applied across the medical and 
dental professions.

PROPOSED TARIFF GUIDELINES

The Board has re-affirmed its mandate and commitment to determine 
the tariff guidelines which will assist in determining the “overcharging” 
by medical practitioners. A resolution was that the Tariff Committee 
should proceed with the project on activities as detailed in the 2014 
project plan, and that its mandate be limited to the determination of a 
“fee norm” rather than the actual price and actual rate that should be 
charged for each medical procedure.

 To achieve its objectives, the Tariff Committee of the Board will 
of necessity engage all key stakeholders until the final document is 
completed, as required by legislation.

REGISTRATIONS

The Board has initiated a process to streamline its administrative 
processes by aligning its functions with the structure and core functions 
of each department. The Executive Management of the HPCSA has 

approved that in order to achieve acceptable levels of efficiency, the 
registration function should be reallocated to the main registration 
department. That will assist in expediting and defining roles clearly 
and service delivery will be improved.

The Board has recognised that, as a regulatory body, compliance 
with policy and regulatory framework of the HPCSA, including various 
national legislation, is very critical. Therefore a process of reviewing 
and aligning its Standard Operating Procedures (SOP’s) within the 
legislative and regulatory framework has been initiated. The finalised 
SOP’s will be published on the HPCSA’s website for easy access by 
prospective practitioners who want to register with HPCSA.

Statistics on Foreign Registrations

The following statistics reflect the registrations during 2013/2014:

Internship (Medicine): 160
General Practitioners (Medicine):  314
General Practitioners (Dentistry):  1
Volunteers:  154
Postgraduate (Self-funded): 191
Community Service:  8
Specialists (Medicine):  65

CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

In line with operational and capacity demands of the HPCSA as a 
growing and learning organisation, Council has approved increased 
human resource capacity both technically and in numbers. This 
will reduce long overdrawn processes and unnecessary delays in 
finalising the applications for registration of foreign qualified medical 
practitioners.

FINANCIAL MATTERS

The Board continued to align its financial budgeting processes with 
its strategic objectives. A refined budgeting approach will assist in 
improving operational efficiencies and service delivery throughout the 
organisation, including reporting effectiveness. Financial reporting will 
be aligned with strategic priorities of the Board and will be measured 
as such.
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PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Ms. Roshini Bridgemohan
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Board considered its strategic objectives for the period 2010 – 
2015 and added the following risk factor to the strategic plan:

Fraudulent Registrations

The Board agreed that the Registration Department was the first 
line of interaction with the HPCSA, and sent a letter to all higher 
educational institutions explaining the process and forms required 
for the registration of students and interns in Medical Technology. 
The registration of students and other categories had to be verified 
during evaluation visits to laboratories for accreditation purposes. 
The Registration Department was requested to consult with the 
Society of Medical Laboratory Technicians of South Africa (SMLTSA) 
to provide advice on the forms and requirements for registration 
following the successful passing of the Board examination. In future, 
a senior Registration official will address branch level congresses 
of the SMLTSA to streamline registration challenges and prevent 
fraudulent registrations. 

BOARD ACTIVITIES

Key Projects Identified

• Board evaluations have been aligned with audits of the South 
African National Accreditation System (SANAS) to save on 
costs. This took place to give effect to the Memorandum of 
Understanding in terms of co-ordinating accreditation visits. 

• In future, certificates issued to laboratories following accreditation 
for training will reflect the accreditation status or conditions of 
accreditation on the certificates. 

Meetings

The Board held the following meetings during the period under 
review:

• Professional Board meetings: 18 to 19 March 2013, 
 29 August 2013
• Education Committee meetings: 2 to 3 May 2013, 
 12 to 13 November 2013
• National Work group meeting: 30 to 31 May 2013

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

The Board is currently in discussions with the Committee for 
Medical Science regarding the overlap of the scope of the Medical 
Technology and Medical Science Professions. 

The Board was involved in meetings with the Department of Health’s 
Pathology Task team to formulate principles for managing pathology 
practices. 

The Board furthermore provided input towards the development of 
National Policy on Mid-level Healthcare workers. 

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING OF STANDARDS OF EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING

Evaluations of Universities of Technology

A five year plan for the evaluation of Universities of Technology is 
being rolled out. To date the evaluation of the following Universities 
of Technology have been completed:
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• Cape Peninsula University of Technology
• Vaal University of Technology
• Nelson Mandela University of Technology
• Central University of Technology
• Durban University of Technology

Medical Technology education and training at the Vaal University of 
Technology and Central University of Technology will be evaluated 
during the second half of 2014 and panels of evaluators have been 
appointed accordingly. 

Evaluation of Training Laboratories

The Board has commenced its roll out of evaluating training laboratories 
who have applied to the Board for accreditation for training status. 
These evaluations will be conducted within this and next financial year. 
An accreditation certificate issued to a laboratory will be a requirement 
when the Intern Medical Technologist, Student Medical Technician and 
Student Lab Assistant applies to write the Board Examination.

New Qualification

A career ladder was developed from the Laboratory Assistant 
qualification to the Bachelor of Health Science: Medical Laboratory 
Science. The first group of students who enrolled for this new BHSc 
in Medical Laboratory Science qualification implemented at Cape 
Peninsula University of Technology are in their final year of study. There 
will be two new registers for BHSc Medical Laboratory Science, one 
for Interns and the other for the new BHSc practitioners. Both these 
registers are nearing completion. The Board has communicated the 
different options for the articulation process from the National Diploma 
to BHSc Medical Laboratory Science qualification through newsletters 
and at congresses.

DISCIPLINARY ISSUES

Over 200 practitioners have not responded to the call for CPD 
compliance and have been suspended. The General Manager of CPD, 
and Records advised that these practitioners were already afforded a 
period of six months to comply with the requirements but failed to 
comply. Practitioners who were suspended have been informed in 
writing about their suspension, and the Board of Healthcare Funders 
was notified. The Board is seriously concerned about with the large 
number of non-compliant professionals regarding CPD requirements. 

A total of 160 practitioners were suspended for the non-payment of 
annual fees.

The Board’s Committee of Preliminary Inquiry considered six matters of 
which one was referred for a Professional Conduct Hearing.

FINANCIAL AND BUDGETARY MATTERS

Financial statements

Financial statements for the period ending February 2014 confirmed 
the Board was functioning within its budget provisions. The Board 
resolved not to increase annual fees and they were retained as follows:

Abbreviation Register 2013 2014

MT Medical 
Technologists

R1052 R1052

S-GT Supplementary 
Medical Technicians

R738 R738

GT Medical Technicians R462 R462

S-LA Supplementary 
Laboratory Assistants

R435 R435

LA Laboratory Assistants R435 R435
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FOR OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY, MEDICAL ORTHOTICS 
AND PROSTHETICS AND ARTS THERAPY

PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Prof. Alfred Ramukumba
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

The Professional Board is dealing with the following critical issues 
during its current term: 

• Scope of Profession/Practice for Medical Orthotists and 
Prosthetists. The Scopes of Occupational Therapist Technician 
and Occupational Therapist Assistant need to be concluded;

• Conclusion of the outcomes for Orthopaedic Footwear 
Technicians by the Standards Generating Body (SGB) Task Team;

• 240 credit qualification and encouraging institutions to embark 
on education and training.

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING THE STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

Prelim Cases

The Board’s Committee of Preliminary Inquiry deliberated on 37 
matters served before it: 

Finalised: 12
Inquiry: 1
Deferred: 8
Inquiry with Fine: 10
Consultations: 4
Referred to Undesirable Business: 1

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING THE STANDARDS OF EDUCATION 
AND TRAINING

Minimum Standards and Outcomes for Medical 
Orthotists and Prosthetists 

Following a Standards Generating Body (SGB) Task Team meeting, 
the minimum standards for Medical Orthotists and Prosthetists for 
a 480 exit level qualification were developed and submitted for 
consideration. The requirements pertaining to first aid training were 
included as part of the exit level competencies. The outcomes for 
Medical Orthotics and Prosthetics were accepted as the minimum 
outcomes for undergraduate education and training, and educational 
institutions which recently applied for accreditation for the education 
and training of Medical Orthotists and Prosthetists were officially 
notified of the new minimum standards. 
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Revision of Evaluation Guidelines 

Learning programmes are evaluated to ensure that education and 
training offered by training providers meets minimum requirements set 
by the Board. The evaluation guidelines were revised and finalised. 
The Board’s previous and future evaluations are as follows:

Occupational Therapy

University Previous 
Evaluations

Next 
Evaluation

Cape Town 1995, 2001, 2006, 
2012 

2017

Free State 1996, 2002, 2007, 
2012 

2017

KwaZulu-Natal 1998, 2005, 2011 2016

Limpopo 1997, 2004, 2009 2014

Pretoria 1996, 2002, 2007, 
2012 

2017

Stellenbosch 1997, 2003, 2008, 
2013

2018

Western Cape 1995, 2001, 
2006/2008, 2013 

2018

Witwatersrand 1999, 2004, 2009 2014

Medical Orthotics And Prosthetics

University Comment Next 
Evaluation

Tshwane University 
of Technology

1996 , 2007, 2009, 
2013

2018

Durban University 
of Technology

2012 2014

Walter Sisulu 
University

2012

2014 2014

Arts Therapy

University Comment Evaluation

Pretoria 2001, 2006, 2012 2017

Witwatersrand 2012 2014

Scopes of Practice for Occupational Therapists

The Board is revising the scope of practice for Occupational Therapists 
which overlap with practitioners registered with other Professions 
Boards. The document is currently being finalised after an extensive 
consultative process with key stakeholders including the Occupational 
Therapy Association of SA (OTASA) Council meeting and the National 
Occupational Therapy Forum.  

Assistive Devices

A Task Team has developed a draft position paper for input from 
Council’s Legal Department on the issue of assistive devices which 
form part of the undergraduate teaching programme, yet which are no 
longer used in clinical areas. 

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

Reducing Risks involved with Board Examinations

A Task Team was appointed to review the existing examination 
guidelines to improve the examination processes and procedures. 
Examination processes and procedures were revised to include the 
format of case studies to be provided, time frames and procedures 
relating to submission of case studies and DVD recordings, and criteria 
to be met by supervisors within the respective fields of interest. 

Board Examinations

All foreign qualified health practitioners with qualifications that 
enable them to practise Occupational Therapy, Medical Orthotics 
and Prosthetics and Arts Therapy abroad or in their country of origin 
may apply for registration with the HPCSA provided the applicant 
complies with the minimum requirements. The following applications 
were received: 

Name of Profession Applications Received

Occupational Therapy 18

Occupational Therapy Technician 86

Medical Orthotists and Prosthetists 21

Orthopaedic Footwear Technician 1

Art Therapists 11

Total 137

ANNUAL FEES 

The Board reviewed the annual fee structure and retained the fees as 
follows:

OT Occupational Therapist R1229

OS Medical Orthotist and Prosthetist R1229

SOT Supplementary Occupational Therapist R1229

SOS Supplementary Medical Orthotist and Prosthetist R1229

OB Orthopaedic Footwear Technician R399

OTT Occupational Therapy Technician R399

OAS Assistant Medical Orthotist and Prosthetist, and 
Leatherworkers

R399

OTB Occupational Therapy Assistant R386

AT Arts Therapist R1229

OSA Orthopaedic Technical Assistant R399
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FOR OPTOMETRY AND DISPENSING OPTICIANS
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Ms. Vanessa Moodley
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Goal Strategic Objective

1.  To facilitate the establishment of a sustainable eye care service 
delivery system

1.1  Extend access of comprehensive eye care services within the 
public health system

2.  To ensure that eye care practitioners practice ethically within 
the scope of professional practice - with the appropriate 
clinical skills to meet the public and private sector eye care 
needs

2.1  Foster compliance with the HPCSA ethical framework

2.2  Enabling registered eye care professionals with appropriate 
skills and relevant qualifications to practice to meet public eye-
care challenges.

2.3  Promote the creation of a new image for the discipline as a 
health profession that is appropriately skilled for efficient and 
effective service delivery within a multidisciplinary health care 
team.

2.4  Create and strengthen strategic partnerships with relevant 
stakeholders.

3.  To establish and maintain standards for education & training 
in order to achieve locally relevant, internationally competitive 
quality education for the respective professions.

3.1  Review and enhance current quality standards within 
education and training.

3.2  Appraise professional practice for quality standards for the 
respective eye care professions.

3.3  Encourage and monitor continuing professional development 
of registered practitioners.

3.4  Constant and effective communication with relevant education 
sector stakeholders.
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OVERVIEW

The Board’s vision is to be an effective regulator of quality, accessible, 
eye care services for all, while its mission is to establish and implement 
a regulatory framework and policies for eye care service delivery, 
professional norms and standards, and education and training.

• The Board and its structures held eleven meetings between April 
2013 and March 2014 and made satisfactory progress on the 
strategic plan for its term of office. 

• The Board conducted follow up evaluation visits for accreditation 
at three institutions offering Optometry and Dispensing Opticianry. 
All institutions were accredited to provide education programmes 
for the next five years.

• The Board made a submission to the Medicines Control Council 
on the ocular therapeutic prescription rights for Optometrists. This 
submission seeks approval Optometrists being in possession of 
a permit issued in terms of section 22A (12) of the Medicines 
and Related Substances Control Act, (Act No. 101 of 1965), to 
acquire, possess and use the specified Schedule 1, Schedule 2, 
Schedule 3 or Schedule 4 substances for diagnosis and therapeutic 
purposes. Final approval is awaited. The suggested formulary for 
Optometrists with an appropriate post-graduate qualification has 
been divided according to clinical categories. 

• One person resigned from the Board, while one appointment is 
still outstanding. The Education Committee was strengthened when 
one member from the dispensing optician profession was co-opted.

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board held its annual meeting with the Heads of Departments 
of Optometry /Dispensing Opticianry with the National Optometry 
Forum (a public sector optometry group) to address matters of common 
interest on education and eye care service delivery. 

The Board continues to engage the Department of Health to have 
community service for graduates extended to Optometry and 
Dispensing Opticians. The Board sees this as a critical element in 
addressing the provision of eye care services within the public sector.  

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

Scope of practice

Guidelines for practice audits were finalised, and approved by 
Council. A pilot audit was conducted successfully and the Board 
developing the relevant legislative framework.

Disciplinary Issues 

The Board’s Committee of Preliminary Enquiry met three times to 
consider the following matters: 

Total matters handled:  70
Finalised:  16 
Inquiry:  14 
Deferred:  20
Inquiry with Fine:  2
Consultation:  8
Guilty: 10

Determining and Upholding Standards of Education and Training
Continuing Professional Development (CPD)

CPD providers were encouraged to offer good quality activities 
including Ethics.  An effective monitoring system of CPD programmes 
is in place. The Board continuously evaluates and monitors accredited 
activities accredited provides support to education and training 
institutions. The Board supported the recommendation of Council’s 
CPD Committee to introduce the license to practice

New Qualifications

The Board considered and approved a new qualification of Bachelor 
of Health Sciences in Opticianry from Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology. The same institution also applied for approval of the 
Bachelor of Optometry programme which is still being considered. 
Education and training institutions were encouraged to develop and 
offer certified postgraduate programmes in the recognised specialist 
fields to ensure that the standards of clinical practice is aligned to 
international best practice.

Accredited institutions were requested to provide the Board’s approved 
Ocular Therapeutics Course to practitioners to allow them to meet the 
registration requirements for the scope expansion.   

QUALITY CONTROL

The Standards Generating Body (SGB) reviewed and updated the exit 
level outcomes and decided to further review and update the outcomes 
to include Human Rights, Ethics and Health Law, Aviation and a section 
on research.   

Training

Institutions were encouraged to provide refresher courses on diagnostic 
skills, postgraduate programmes in Ocular Therapeutics and Ethics 
courses. Ethics courses will also be available to practitioners found 
guilty of unethical or unprofessional behaviour.
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FOR PHYSIOTHERAPY, PODIATRY AND BIOKINETICS
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Prof. Nomathemba Taukobong
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

The Board held its strategic planning session, where the Education 
Committee recommended that annual meetings between the 
Professional Board for Physiotherapy, Podiatry and Biokinetics and 
the Professional Board for Occupational Therapy, Medical Orthotics 
and Prosthetics and Arts Therapy should be considered, and that 
a forum to discuss matters of mutual interest should be established. 
The strategic plan and the operational plan of the Board would be 
updated and reviewed at further meetings to determine priority issues.

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board has undertaken to assist with the development of the 
National Health Insurance (NHI) Plan, and to participate with 
government on this initiative to understand the holistic approach.

Communication with Stakeholders

It is important for Professional Boards to communicate with 
practitioners, professional associations, education and training 
institutions and other stakeholders regarding work undertaken 
towards fulfilling their mandates. To achieve this, the Board uses 
regular newsletters with content which is pertinent for stakeholders 
as well as topical and interesting. The Board’s Communication 
Committee actively plans newsletters to enhance communication and 
disseminate important information to stakeholders. Ethical matters 
and guidelines have been identified as an important area as well as 
matters reported by societies and associations. 

Another important channel for the Board’s communication strategy 
includes roadshows. Two roadshows were held on 8 October 
2013 in eMalahleni and on 5 March 2014 in Potchefstroom. The 
Chairperson and members of the Board delivered presentations 

on its strategic initiatives and objectives, education and training 
(including evaluations), ethics, tariffs for professional services as 
well as prescribing medicines, among others. One area targeted for 
improvement was the attendance of roadshows by podiatrists.

DISCIPLINARY ISSUES

The Board’s Committee of Preliminary Inquiry dealt with and finalised 
the following matters: 

Matter served before Committee:  87
Finalised:  30
Inquiry:  15
Deferred:  20
Inquiry with Fine:  24
Ombudsman:  2
Consultations:  5

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING THE STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

Task Team to Review the Ethical Rules 

The Board has requested its task team to review the ethical rules with 
a view to possible amendments. The review should also include the 
revision of the ethical rules pertaining to Physiotherapy Assistants and 
Physiotherapy Technicians. The review is currently underway.

Tariff Committee

The Board has constituted a Tariff Committee to review legislation 
applicable to the Board to address perceived deficiencies and 
shortcomings, in conjunction with matters relating to the proposed 
revision of the Health Professions Act 1974 (Act 56 of 1974) and 
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the Ethical Rules. The Tariff Committee will commence discussions and 
developments around tariffs. 
 
DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING THE STANDARDS OF EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING

Standards Generating Body (SGB) Process for 
Physiotherapy Technicians (PTT)

On a number of occasions, the Board had raised concerns regarding 
the lack of a 240 exit level qualification within the Higher Education 
Qualifications Framework. An SGB task team provided the Board 
with a submission on the outcomes of a 240 credit exit level PTT 
qualification as well as the process report developed in collaboration 
with stakeholders. 

Given the shortage of technicians, the Education Committee suggested 
that all educational institutions be alerted that provision for a 240 exit 
level qualification within the Higher Education Qualification Framework 
be made once a 240 exit level qualification had been introduced and 
formally promulgated in the Government Gazette.

Following the approval of the Higher Education Qualifications Sub-
framework by the Minister of Higher Education and Training in January 
2013 and the inclusion of a 240 credit exit level qualification, 
official provision has now been made for the introduction of a formal 
qualification for Physiotherapy Technicians. On 1 August 2013, the 
Board informed educational institutions during the meeting with Heads 
of Departments, associations and societies. The revised documents 
and scope will be provided once it had been finally reviewed by the 
Education Committee.

Generic Guidelines for the Evaluation and Accreditation 
of Education Programmes and Facilities

A Task Team was appointed to review the procedures, processes 
and guidelines for the evaluation and accreditation of educational 
programmes and facilities. The Task Team reviewed the relevant 
documentation, added additional information relating to processes 
and identified limitations within the current system with regard to all the 
professions within the ambit of the Board. The Evaluation Guidelines 
were circulated to the stakeholders for input and revised. They were 
approved for immediate implementation during the meeting with 
Heads of Department on 1 August 2013.

Scope of the Profession and Overlap with Occupational 
Therapy

The Professional Board identified a need to revise the scopes of the 
respective professions and Occupational Therapy in view of overlaps 
and perceived transgressions amongst the professions. The Scope Task 
Team determined that deeper insight into the actual roles of each of the 
professions within the various fields of treatment and rehabilitation was 
needed. Work is currently underway to describe the roles, using the 
headings found in the Physiotherapy Scope of Profession. 

Prescription of Medicine by Podiatrists and 
Physiotherapists

A Task Team was previously requested to develop the documentation 
required by the Medicines Control Council (MCC) relating the use, 

administration and dispensing of medicines by Podiatrists. Podiatrists 
in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom have all recently 
been awarded prescription rights.

The Task Team met to discuss the way forward and to determine 
the basis and content of the applications for both the Podiatry and 
Physiotherapy professions. Part of the process further included a 
process to demonstrate to MCC that Podiatrists had complied with 
the minimum requirements relating to the use and administration of 
medicines and local anaesthesia. The Board has subsequently written 
to the MCC to confirm the requirements for the application and plans 
to arrange a meeting with MCC to finalise the process.

Evaluation of Training Institutions

Evaluation of education and training programmes takes place within a 
five year cycle as determined by the Education Committee. Postponing 
an evaluation could be considered by the Education Committee if 
sufficiently motivated by the education or training institution. The table 
below identifies previous evaluations conducted and future evaluations 
to be undertaken by the Board:

Physiotherapy
Previous 
Evaluation

Upcoming 
Evaluation

University of Cape Town
2002
2011

2016

University of Witwatersrand
2005
2011

2016

University of Pretoria
2006
2012

2017

University of the Western Cape
2006
2013

2018

University of KwaZulu-Natal
2007
2013

2018

University of Limpopo
2007
2013

2018

Stellenbosch University 2009 2014 

University of the Free State 2010 2015

Biokinetics
Previous 
Evaluation

Upcoming 
Evaluation

University of Zululand
2004
2011

2016

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan 
University

2003
2013

2018

University of the Western Cape
2005
2012

2017

Tshwane University of Technology
2005

Oct 2012
2017

University of KwaZulu-Natal
2005
2012

2017

University of Johannesburg
2006
2013

2018

University of North West 2006 2014

University of Cape Town 2007 2014
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Biokinetics
Previous 
Evaluation

Upcoming 
Evaluation

Stellenbosch University
2007/8

2013
2018

University of Pretoria
2009
2011

2016

University of the Free State
2002
2012

2017

University of Venda 2008 2014

University of the Witwatersrand 2009 2014

Podiatry
Previous 
Evaluation

Upcoming 
Evaluation

University of Johannesburg
2006
2012

2017

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

Board Examinations

All foreign qualified health practitioners with qualifications that enable 
them to practise Physiotherapy or Podiatry abroad or in their country 
of origin may apply for registration with the Health Professions Council 

of South Africa provided the applicant complies with the minimum 
requirements. This includes submission of the required information, 
meeting the minimum requirements for registration as specified by the 
Board and successfully completing the Board Examination for foreign 
qualified practitioners.

The Board received the following applications during the period 
under review: 

Profession Applications Received

Physiotherapy 41

Physiotherapy Technician 51

Podiatrists 3

Total 95
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FOR PSYCHOLOGY
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Prof. Tholene Sodi
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Professional Board for Psychology developed its strategic initiatives 
for the five year period during 2011 and aligned its strategic plan with 
that of the HPCSA. Early in 2014, the Executive Committee resolved 
that specific areas of the strategic objectives be prioritised by the 
Board for the remainder of the term of the Board until June 2015. 

This included a need to focus on communication and interaction 
with stakeholders such as the professional associations/societies, the 
Department of Health, the Departments of Basic and Higher Education, 
the Department of Correctional Services, South African Police Service, 
the SA Military Service, the Department of Social Welfare and the 
Department of Women, Children and People with Disabilities. 

Following a review of its strategic objectives, the Board developed 
and approved a Risk Management Plan in April 2013. The Board 
Manager compiled a summary of the risks to reflect progress made 
in terms of risk management. Measures to mitigate these risks will be 
monitored during the rest of the term of the Board and the risk areas will 
be managed in line with the defined strategic objectives

GENERAL FUNCTIONING OF THE BOARD 

Orientation of Newly Appointed Members

The Board finalised the programme for orientation of newly appointed 
members and extended an invitation to existing members or co-opted 
members to attend the orientation session which was conducted 
in August 2013. A follow-up training session for members of the 
Committee of Preliminary Inquiry was also presented by the Legal 
Department.

Meeting with the Department of Basic Education 

The Board appointed two members to a Task Team to represent the 
Board at the meeting held on 30 August 2013 with a delegation of 
the Directorate: Education Human Resource Planning, Provisioning and 
Monitoring. The primary purpose of this initiative was to develop norms 
and standards for services rendered by health care practitioners within 
the basic education setting. 

Regulations Relating to the Constitution of the 
Professional Board for Psychology

In April 2013, the Board resolved that its composition be referred to 
the Executive Committee for consideration. Regulations relating to the 
constitution of the Professional Board for Psychology provide for the 
appointment of 12 psychologists by the Minister. 

In view of the broad and diverse functions of the Board, the Executive 
Committee granted approval for sixteen psychologists to be appointed 
by the Minister and one person to represent the Department of Labour. 
The Legal Department provided the Board with amendment Regulations 
for consideration in October 2013. 

Administrative Support for the Board

After the serious administrative capacity constraints due to the expanded 
activities of the Board due to its strategic initiatives and vacant 
positions, additional staff were appointed to support the functions of 
the Board. Ms Hilda Baloyi and Liliosa Manjoro were appointed as 
Committee Co-ordinators for the Education and Accreditation, and 
Quality Assurance Committees respectively as from the second half 
of 2013. 
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Performance Survey Tool

In November 2013, the Executive Committee assessed the 
performance of the Board according to the completed Performance 
Survey Tool. The Board performed well in all the areas, and a 
detailed report based on the format of the tool was provided to the 
Education and Training and Quality Assurance Committee. 

Tragic loss of Prof HSB Ngcobo

The Board experienced the sudden and sad loss of one of its 
members, Prof HSB Ngcobo, who was fatally shot on 23 March 
2014. He was a great leader and dedicated professional; and 
who served the Board as a member of the Executive Committee and 
Chairperson of the Accreditation and Quality Assurance Committee.

COMMUNICATION RELATED ISSUES

Meeting with Heads of Departments and stakeholders, 
19 April 2013, Kempton Park

A consultative meeting between the Board and Heads of Departments 
of education and training institutions (including internship sites), was 
held to discuss the following:

• The Higher Education Qualifications Sub-Framework as revised 
in January 2013;

• Internship Programme requirements;
• Guidelines for internship training and timeframes;
• Outcomes developed for the different categories of registration, 

(SGB documents);
• Accreditation and Quality Assurance process;
• Test Classification Framework;
• Training of students in psychometric testing;
• Implementation of evaluation fees;
• Student registers for Registered Counsellors and Psychometrists.

Attendance of the 5th International Congress 
on Licensure, Certification and Credentialing in 
Psychology, 7 – 9 July 2013, Stockholm

The Chairperson of the Board, Prof. T Sodi, attended the 5th 
International Congress on Licensure, Certification and Credentialing 
in Psychology on 7 – 9 July 2013 in Stockholm. The Executive 
Committee also gave approval for the Chairperson of the Examination 
Committee and the Chairperson of the Scope Task Team to attend, 
due to the relevance of their portfolios. The attendees recommended 
that the Psychometrics Committee participate in the next ITC 
conference in 2014, to present its efforts regarding guidelines on 
the development, control and use of tests and the reclassification of 
all tests. 

Attendance at the 15th Annual Conference of the 
Society for Industrial and Organisational Psychology 
of South Africa, 29-31 July 2013, Pretoria 

Members of the Board participated in SIOPSA Conference in Pretoria 
with the theme “Making a difference in the future world of work.” 
The Chairperson of the Board and Dr Moloi presented an overview 
on the legislative mandate of the Board as well as the regulation 
of psychometric tests, while the Board Manager and Committee 
Coordinator hosted an exhibition stand at the conference. On 31 July 

2013, the first ever oath-taking ceremony was also held for newly 
qualified Industrial Psychologists who confirmed their commitment to 
the profession and their clients. 

Annual South African Psychology Congress, 24 – 27 
September 2013, Kempton Park

Extending its presence to the annual PsySSA Congress, the Board 
participated in round table discussions facilitated by the Chairperson, 
Prof T Sodi, while other members of the Board attended the sessions 
and responded to questions. Its exhibition stand was attended by 
Board administrative staff and supported logistically by the Public 
Relations and Service Delivery Department. The Board sponsored 
500 note pads and was recognised as one of the official sponsors 
for the Conference. 

Board Newsletter 

The Board resolved that the newsletter be issued electronically as well 
as in hard copy format as hand-outs at conferences and interaction 
with stakeholders. This was realised at the end of July 2013. 

HPCSA Roadshows

The Board had an exhibition table at each roadshow and different 
staff members in the Division manned the tables and provided 
information and advice to attendees. Local Board members attended 
the roadshows where possible:

Venue Date

Polokwane Practitioner Road Show 20 June 2013

Bloemfontein Practitioner Road Show 9 July 2013

Kimberley Practitioner Road Show 11 July 2013

East London Practitioner Road Show 23 July 2013

Durban Practitioner Road Show 30 July 2013

Richards Bay Road Show 7 August 2013

Mthata Road Show 13 August 2013

PROMOTION OF THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

National Mental Health Action Plan (2013-2020)

The National Mental Health Action Plan (2013-2020) was updated 
and revised and the eight key objectives as recommended by the 
Interim Ministerial Advisory Committee were supported by the Board 
in October 2013. 

Each Board meeting reported on the implementation of the National 
Mental Health Policy Framework and Strategic Plan 2013/2014.  
This document was referred to the Executive Committee in order to 
determine the impact of the Framework on the Professional Board and 
its structures. The policy framework was considered, embraced and 
popularised at all Board and Committee structures and it was resolved 
that the National Mental Health Policy Framework and Strategic Plan 
2013-2020 be considered during stakeholder meetings in 2014. 
This plan represents a milestone, and will significantly improve access 
to mental health services in the country.
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Workshop with examiners, moderators and markers, 
3 September 2013 

At this workshop on the National Board Examination, the roles and 
responsibilities of the Administration were outlined in terms of the 
logistical arrangements and compliance checks of each examination 
applications. Examiners, moderators and markers attended the 
meeting which dealt with the setting of examination papers, re-marks, 
the Sekela Internal Audit Report, results, pass rate and guidelines for 
foreign qualified professionals. 
 
Education, training and continued existence of Research 
Psychology 

The following concerns raised at the Executive Committee in November 
2013 regarding the education, training and continued existence of 
research as a category of registration by psychologists, the Education 
Committee approved that a task team consider issues relating to 
research psychology such as the training, internship training and the 
scope of practice. 

Criminal Procedures Act and the Conducting of Criminal 
Capacity Assessments of Children

The National Department of Health requested the Board to provide 
input on which registration categories of psychologists should be 
included in the category of professionals to conduct criminal capacity 
assessments on children.

The Board resolved that the following categories of psychologists be 
authorised to conduct criminal capacity assessments of children in 
terms of section 11 of the Child Justice Act, 75 of 2008:

• Clinical Psychologists
• Educational Psychologists
• Counselling Psychologists
• Registered Counsellors

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF EDUCATION, 
TRAINING AND PRACTICE

In April 2012, the Education Committee defined a need to review 
the education; training and scope for Registered Counsellors. In May 
2013, the Education Committee resolved that Form 258 be amended. 
The guidelines contained the list of psychometric tests to be used by 
Registered Counsellors. The Psychometrics Committee in March 2013 
resolved that the new list of tests to be used by Registered Counsellors 
be grouped into constructs. Registered Counsellors should only use 
Psychological Tests that were appropriate to their context. 

The Education Committee in May 2013 resolved that the revised 
guideline document for education internship programmes be approved 
subject to the inclusion of the requirement of 10% on ethics. The 
document was approved by the Executive Committee. 

A training session was conducted on 11 March 2014 for 30 evaluators 
to add capacity and improve transparency of the quality assurance 
process of the Board. Certificates of CEU credits were provided to 
attendees as well as presenters for the workshop.

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING OF STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

Criteria and guidelines for the accreditation of activities 
for CPD purposes

The Board representative on Council’s CPD Committee developed 
criteria and guidelines for the accreditation of activities for CPD 
purposes which served at the meeting of the Education Committee 
in October 2013. Criteria and guidelines for the accreditation of 
activities for CPD purposes were approved and ratified by the Executive 
Committee. The guidelines were made available to approved CPD 
Accreditors, Council’s CPD Department and placed on the Board 
website for immediate implementation and use by practitioners.

Annual reports of the following approved CPD Accreditors for the 
Professional Board for Psychology were considered by the Education 
Committee in February 2014 as part the Board’s quality assurance 
process for CPD: 

• University of the Free State;
• University of Pretoria;
• PsySSA.

Accreditors for CPD activities were provided with guidelines in 
terms of accrediting Service Providers to ensure that activities not be 
accredited outside of the scope of a practice of a professional. The 
Board also plans to develop a monitoring for accredited activities with 
regular reporting to the Education Committee to ensure compliance to 
standards and scope limitations.

Amendments to the Scope of Practice and the Scope of 
the Profession of Psychology

The proposed revisions to the regulations relating to the scope 
of practice for Psychology and regulations defining the scope of 
profession of Psychology were approved in principle by the Board in 
April 2012. The Task Team recommended to the Executive Committee 
that a comprehensive research project be undertaken on the status 
of the psychology profession to include practitioners and institutions. 
The task team gave input and proposed changes to a draft national 
survey developed by Prof L Van Vuuren which focused on the context 
and content of the psychology profession. Follow up meetings will take 
place in the new financial year. 

KEEPING OF ACCURATE REGISTERS

National Board Examinations 

As part of its mandate to ensure that qualified and competent persons 
be registered, the Board conducts three Board Examinations per 
annum to ensure standards of education and training and professional 
practice. These examinations measure the capacity of graduates, 
foreign qualified practitioners and practitioners applying for restoration 
to enter the profession for community service, supervised practice and 
independent practice. Examinations were conducted as follows: 
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Date of Examination Examination Category
Number of Candidates 

Who Wrote 
Number of Candidates 

Passed 

June 2013 Psychology All Categories 

Clinical Psychology 41 36

Counselling Psychology 12 9

Educational Psychology 6 1

Industrial Psychology 31 15

Research Psychology 12 10

Registered Counsellor 135 88

Psychometrist Independent Practice 119 113

Psychometrist Supervised Practice 2 2

TOTAL 358 274

October 2013 Psychology All Categories 

Clinical Psychology 38 36

Counselling Psychology 21 20

Educational Psychology 38 37

Industrial Psychology 55 21

Research Psychology 6 4

Registered Counsellor 110 96

Psychometrist Independent Practice 75 54

Psychometrist Supervised Practice 1 1

TOTAL 344 269

Feb 2014 Psychology All Categories 

Clinical Psychology 38 37

Counselling Psychology 21 18

Educational Psychology 25 14

Industrial Psychology 68 60

Research Psychology 7 3

Registered Counsellor 90 65

Psychometrist Independent Practice 92 21

Psychometrist Supervised Practice 1 1

TOTAL 342 219

MATTERS PERTAINING TO PSYCHOMETRIC TESTING 

Draft Policy Regulations Relating to the Control of 
Psychometric Tests

A draft policy document relating to the control of Psychometric Tests 
was developed by the Psychometrics Committee and served at the 
Board meeting in April 2013 for approval. The objectives of the 
regulations were to specify:

• The minimum requirements for a psychological test;
• The procedure to follow when developing psychological tests;
• The procedure to follow when adapting a psychological tests;
• The purpose of and procedure for evaluating and classifying a 

psychological test;
• The reasons for re-evaluating classified psychological tests and 

the procedure to be followed in this regard;
• Matters related to the control and use of psychological tests; and
• The rights and responsibilities of test takers.

In May 2013, the Executive Committee resolved that draft Policy 
Regulations be approved, subject to the changes as discussed. 

Publication of a list of classified tests 

The Psychometrics Committee in March 2014 considered the list 
of tests under development/adaptation to be included in the list of 
classified tests for publication. An article on obsolete tests would 
be included in the newsletter to stress that practitioners should 
use tests older than 10 years with caution. The Board will have 
a developmental rather than punitive approach in this regard. The 
Board Notice will remind practitioners against using unclassified tests 
and invite them to discuss the issue of tests that are not classified. 
The revised certificate of test classification was finalised, and the 
certificate will in future be signed by the Registrar/CEO.

The Psychometrics Committee in July 2013 noted that guidelines in 
Chapter 5 of the Ethical Rules only referred to a Psychologist and no 
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other professions within Psychology. The Committee resolved that the Board should suggest amendments in Chapter 5 of the Rules and Regulations 
pertaining to Psychology, and the inputs should be circulated among the members.

FINANCIAL ISSUES AND BUDGETARY ISSUES 

Budget and Annual Fees for 2014 

The Executive Committee resolved that annual fees for 2014 for registers under the ambit of the Professional Board for Psychology remain 
unchanged as follows:

Register Description Annual Fee 2012 Annual Fee 2013 Annual Fee 2014

PS Psychologists R1,511 R1,587 R1,587

PMT Psychometrists R771 R817 R817

PM Psychotechnicians R637 R675 R675

PSIN Intern Psychologists R507 R537 R537

PRC Registered Counsellors R771 R817 R817

Other fees payable to Council in terms of Registration, Certified Extracts, Certificates of Status and Examinations were increased by 6 % as from 
1 April 2014.

Financial statements 

The Board functioned well within its budget provision with no overspending on the 2012/2013 budget.
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FOR RADIOGRAPHY AND CLINICAL TECHNOLOGY
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Ms. Mable Kekana
Chairperson

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

The following strategic objectives were determined for the term of 
office of the Board:

1. To develop and maintain an effective 
communication strategy

The Professional Board for Radiography and Clinical Technology 
(RCT) established the need for ensuring effective communication 
and collaboration with stakeholders such as the public, educational 
institutions, professionals, practitioners, professional associations, 
the National Department of Health, other Professional Boards and 
the South African Qualification Authority in line with the HPCSA 
communication protocols. The objective for such communication 
was to improve accessibility to and communication with the HPCSA 
Administration. 

2. To provide guidance to the professions in order to 
promote competent, empowered professionals

This strategic objective was achieved through:

• Continuous policy development, implementation and review; 
• The development and maintenance of standards of education 

and training and service delivery; 
• The review of scopes of professions under the ambit of the Board; 
• Investigating the issue of role extension in Radiography and 

Clinical Technology; 
• Ensuring that education and training institutions and service 

providers are accredited in line with established guidelines and 
standards; 

• Conducting examinations for foreign qualified professionals in 
order to determine their eligibility for registration; 

• Contributing to the development and implementation of the CPD 
programmes to promote compliance by practitioners and to 
enforce measures for non- compliance.

3. To ensure adherence to standards, regulations 
and requirements

The Board achieved this objective by enhancing professional 
and ethical practice and service delivery, as well as through the 
Board’s monitoring mechanisms. Sound financial management and 
application of good corporate governance principles ensured the 
effective management of financial resources.

MEETINGS

The following meetings were conducted during the period under 
review:

• Professional Board – 22 May 2013 and 7 November 2013
• Education Committee –8 March 2013 and 25 September 2013
• Executive Committee – 4 September 2013
• RCT HOD Education Committee – 21 May 2013
• RCT Day Celebrations, Port Elizabeth - 8 November 2013
• EEG Technician Examinations – 21 and 22 February 2014
• Examination for Foreign Qualified Radiographers – 31 

November-6 December 2013
• Evaluator Training – 7 March 2013
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PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

Communication with stakeholders:

The RCT News is the official newsletter of the Professional Board for 
Radiography and Clinical Technology and due to limited financial 
resources the Professional Board issues the newsletter annually in order 
to improve communication with stakeholders.  The newsletter was 
released in November 2013.

Another communication strategy adopted by the Board was to conduct 
open or stakeholder meetings at different provinces each year. This 
enhanced the visibility of the Board and improved communication in 
general. On 8 November 2013, the Board held an open stakeholder 
meeting to celebrate RCT Day, with the theme “Know your scope 
of practice”. Approximately 100 practitioners attended and they 
welcomed the opportunity to interact with the Board. They made 
recommendations on how the HPCSA could improve its delivery of 
services to the professions. Three Continuing Education Units were 
awarded to practitioners who attended the event. 

Role Extension- Injection of Contrast Media

The Professional Board approved a research project on the need for 
role extension in Radiography. The project was rolled out after the 
ethical clearance was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee of 
the Faculty of Health Sciences at the University of Pretoria.

The study was conducted for non-degree purposes to determine the 
feasibility of Role Extension for Radiographers, with specific reference 
to image interpretation and the injection of iodinated contrast media. 
The study was an expansion of the survey conducted by the Society 
of Radiographers (SORSA) in 2012. The aim of this study was to 
gather more information from a wider population of Radiographers 
and Radiologists. It further aimed to determine the willingness of 
Radiographers to take up additional roles and responsibilities. 
Obtaining their views and opinions would assist the Professional Board 
in carrying out its mandate of ensuring quality education and training 
for Radiographers. 

This study involved completion of a questionnaire by registered 
Radiographers and Radiologists on the role extension for radiographers. 
The questionnaire covered demographic information, employment 
and work related questions, clinical experience in the diagnostic 
radiography department, formalising training for role extension, and 
finally the level of agreement with role extension for Radiographers.  

The information gathered will help to guide role extension processes 
and determine the number and location of Diagnostic Radiographers 
who are willing to take up additional responsibilities. 

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING 

Examinations for foreign qualified radiographers 

In order to protect the public and ensure that only competent practitioners 
are registered, all foreign qualified practitioners are required to pass the 
board examination. The examination for foreign qualified practitioners 
was held in February 2014. Nine candidates were examined.

Guidelines for the evaluation and accreditation of 
educational institutions and clinical training facilities

The Professional Board reviewed the guidelines used to evaluate 
education and training facilities and the revised guidelines were 
approved by the Professional Board in November 2013.

Revision of evaluation guidelines

The evaluation guidelines for educational facilities were adapted in line 
with the HPCSA Generic Guidelines for evaluating and accrediting of 
education programmes. The revised guidelines will be used for the next 
cycle of evaluations.

Guidelines for the evaluation of facilities were updated and revised 
in line with the ETQA accreditation guidelines to include health and 
safety issues and to measure the implementation of the core curriculum 
on Human Rights, Ethics and Medical Law. A task team was appointed 
to finalise these guidelines. 

MAINTENANCE OF STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE AND 
CONDUCT

Continuing Professional Development

The Professional Board approved the recommendations of Council’s 
CPD committee relating to the suspension of practitioners who did 
not comply with CPD requirements. The Board maintained that the 
suspension of non-compliant practitioners will contribute significantly to 
ensure that practitioners are continuously developed in their respective 
professions.

FINANCIAL AND BUDGETARY MATTERS

Budget performance

Financial statements ending in March 2014 confirmed that the 
Professional Board was functioning well within its budget provision 
and no overspending occurred. 

Approval of the Budget for 2013/14 and Increase in 
Annual Fees for 2013

The revised budget was approved and annual fees for all the registers 
under the ambit of the Board were retained as follows: 

Registers 2013 2014
DR Radiographers R905 R905
KTG Graduate Clinical Technologists R905 R905
KT Clinical Technologists R905 R905
SKT Supplementary Clinical Technologists R905 R905
KTA Assistant Clinical Technologists R330 R330
SDR Supplementary Diagnostic 

Radiographers
R330 R330

RSDR Restricted Supplementary Diagnostic 
Radiographers

R330 R330

EE Electro-Encephalographic Technicians R330 R330
SEE Supplementary Electro-

Encephalographic Technicians
R330 R330

RLT Radiation Laboratory Technologists R568 R568
SRLT Supplementary Radiation Laboratory 

Technologists
R568 R568
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FOR SPEECH, LANGUAGE AND HEARING
PROFESSIONAL BOARD

Prof. Shajila Singh
Chairperson

STRATEGIC PLAN

The Board determined the following strategic goals for its term of office:

Goal Strategic Objectives

1.  Ensure provision/production of quality trained Speech 
Language Therapists, Audiologists and Hearing Aid 
Acousticians.

1.2  To establish the scope of practice for Hearing Aid 
Accousticians, curricula, examination for hearing Aid 
Acousticians and exit level outcomes;

1.1  To establish a generic framework of core competencies for the 
Hearing Aid Acousticians in line with international benchmarks;

1.3  To ensure adherence by training institutions to the Board’s core 
competencies, regulations and training frameworks.

2.  Ensure quality standards for professional practice 2.1  To facilitate continued professional competence;

2.2  To implement additional education and training.

3.  Scope of Practice 3.1  To clarify profession specific practice.

4.  Protection, maintenance of dignity and integrity of the public 
and practitioners

4.1  To establish up-to date and relevant rules of behaviour and 
conduct; 

4.2  To improve practitioner knowledge on ethics, human rights and 
professional practice;

4.3  To establish open and transparent process to restore public’s 
confidence in the system.

5.  Effective communication with all stakeholders 5.1  To improve communication between the Board and all of its 
stakeholders including:  practitioners, education institutions, the 
public, other boards, professional associations, the Department 
of Health and the Department of Education .  

6.  Maintain oversight of registration of Speech Language and 
Hearing professionals

6.1  Protect the public.
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Goal Strategic Objectives

7.  Effective and efficient Board processes 7.1  To establish mechanisms for enhancing Board effectiveness and 
efficiency.

8.  Improve communication and swallowing health of the public. 8.1  Improve access to SLH services including rural and 
underserviced areas.

8.2  To improve awareness of SLH services in all sectors

OVERVIEW 

The Board has summarised its key activities for the 
year 1 April 2013 – 31 March 2014 as follows:

• The Board and its structures held seven meetings between May 
2013 and March 2014. All meetings consistently formed a 
quorum. In November 2013, the  Board reviewed its strategic 
plan and the progress made in its implementation. The Board 
assessed its performance according to the Performance Survey Tool 
in 2013 and submitted a progress report to the EQTA Committee. 
The Board is satisfied that it is making good progress. 

• A number of quality assurance evaluations were carried out 
at education and training institutions. The Board accredited 
programmes of a number of universities for the period of five years. 
It continued to provide support to education and training institutions 
in reviewing and developing a new curriculum. 

• In March 2014, the Board provided input on the mandate, terms of 
reference, structure and activities of the newly proposed Education 
Office of the HPCSA. 

• Regulations relating to the undergraduate curricula and 
professional examinations in audiology were promulgated in 
February 2014, while regulations relating to the registration of 
additional qualifications of speech therapists, speech therapists 
and audiologists, and audiologists of additional qualifications 
were promulgated in December 2013. 

• The Board requested universities to submit information on the 
demographic profile of their undergraduate students to assist the 
Board to monitor the progress in attaining a more representative 
demographic student profile. Some universities made credible 
efforts to diversify profiles by changing admission criteria, offering 
bursaries and conducting research into the transformation. 

MEETINGS

The board conducted the following meetings during the period under 
review:

• Board meetings – 20 May 2013; 8 November 2013
• Exco Budget – 28 November 2013
• Strategic Planning – 23 August 2013
• Education Committee – 16 September 2013; 19 March 2014

PROMOTING THE HEALTH OF THE NATION

The Board communicated regularly with practitioners, professional 
associations, education and training providers and other relevant 
stakeholders on work done towards fulfilling its mandate. Engagements 
with stakeholders such as practitioners, universities, and different 
government departments enhanced the Board’s visibility and improved 
communication in general. These included the following:

• The discussion regarding the Memorandum of Understanding 
between the Council on Higher Education and the HPCSA is 
underway. The two Councils have set up a process for cooperation 
in the areas of standard setting learning programmes and evaluation 
and accreditation of education and training.

• Regulations regarding radiation equipment are in progress.

• The Board had discussions with the South African Speech-
Language-Hearing Association (SASLHA) on curriculum guidelines 
for undergraduate Speech Language Therapists working in 
educational contexts in South Africa, and on curriculum guidelines 
for Audiologists working in educational settings.  

• The Department of Basic Education’s task team still needs to meet 
and finalise discussions relating to Speech Language and Hearing 
and Audio Service delivery in schools. 

• The Board engaged with the National Department of Health on the 
following issues: 

 (a)  Promulgation of the outstanding regulations; 
 (b)  Recognition of the post-graduate qualifications; 
 (c)  The rollout of the certificate of need; 
 (d)  Student numbers; 
 (e)  A matrix of school screening referrals; 
 (f)  The training programmes and creation of posts for mid- 

 level workers (MLWs); 
 (g)  Services offered by Speech Therapists and Audiology  

 practitioners at primary and secondary level. 

• The Chairperson of the Board attended the Intervarsity meeting 
at the University of Stellenbosch in August 2013 and made a 
presentation showcasing the Board’s achievements.

• The Chairperson of the Education Committee of the Board, Prof 
K Khoza-Shangase, attended the MOSH Noise Industry Team 
meeting in Rustenburg in June 2013 and made a presentation 
on Otoacoustic Emissions (OAEs) and Noise-Induced Hearing Loss 
(NIHL). 
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• The Board attended a meeting on Financing Health Sciences 
Education hosted by the University of KwaZulu-Natal.

• The Board released a media statement on the impact of noise/
amplification on hearing in May 2013. The Chairperson of 
the Education Committee of the Board participated in a radio 
interview on Talk Radio 702. The Public Relations and Service-
Delivery Department reported that the interview received good 
media coverage, resulting in favourable publicity for the Board. 

DETERMINING AND MAINTAINING STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE AND CONDUCT

Scope of Practice

The Board established the following task teams for the period under 
review to develop the scope of practice:

• Early Hearing Detection and Intervention 
• Mid-Level Worker 
• Schools Screening 
• Ototoxicity
• Hearing Aid Acousticians 

Additional task teams will be established during 2014/15 on: 

• Culture and Language in Speech Language Therapy and Audio 
Practice 

• Occupational Noise Induced Hearing Loss

Rules and Regulations Awaiting Finalisation

The Board is still waiting for the following rules and regulations to 
be finalised:

• The rules and regulations pertaining to the Speech, Language 
and Hearing Professions;

• Regulations relating to the undergraduate curricula and 
professional examinations in Audiology;

• Regulations relating to the undergraduate curricula and 
professional examinations in Speech Language Therapy.

Template on clinical hours 

The Board drafted a reporting template to facilitate reflection of 
clinical learning time across the scope of the professions. Annually, 
training institutions are required to indicate the mechanisms that they 
use to track and verify compliance with the minimum number of 
clinical training hours prescribed by the Board. The Board shared the 
draft template with universities and advised them to use the template 
to summarise minimum clinical hours. Universities have agreed that 
the template would help to streamline clinical hours, create uniformity 
and consolidate information at the end of the programme.

Scope of practice 

The Board embarked on a process of determining the scope of practice 
of Community Rehabilitation Workers (CRWs). It appointed a team to 
develop the scope of practice for mid-level workers, compile a curriculum 
including intended learning outcomes, consider international guidelines, 
the CRW curriculum document, the document on service delivery at the 

different levels, and the Higher Education Qualifications Sub-Framework 
from the Council on Higher Education. The Board established two task 
teams that will decide on the scope of the professions and the curriculum 
of Audio MLWs and Speech MLWs.

DETERMINING AND UPHOLDING STANDARDS OF EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING

Continuing Professional Development 

After considering the annual reports submitted by accredited service 
providers to ensure they offered quality CPD activities, the Board 
approved the following accredited service providers: The South 
African Speech Language and Hearing Association (SASLHA), the 
University of the Witwatersrand, Stellenbosch University and the 
University of Cape Town. 

The Board recommended changes to the template for accredited 
service providers, including a correction that activities are “offered” 
but not “approved” by accredited service providers. This was to 
enable the Boards to effectively and efficiently determine the quality 
relevance of CPD activities. The Board submitted comments on the 
accreditation flow diagram developed by the CPD Committee.

Evaluation for accreditation:

The Board accredited the following institutions for the period under 
review:

• University of the Witwatersrand: The evaluation was conducted 
from 22 – 24 April 2013 for the Audiology and Speech 
Language Therapy Programmes. The Division Speech-Language 
and Hearing Therapy at the University was accredited for five 
years;

• University of Limpopo – MEDUNSA Campus: The evaluation 
was conducted from 14 – 16 May 2013 of the Audiology 
and Speech Language Therapy programmes. The Discipline 
Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology at the university was 
accredited for five years;

• Stellenbosch University: The evaluation was conducted from 30 
July 2013 – 01 August 2013. The Division Speech-Language 
and Hearing Therapy at the University was accredited for five 
years.

The Board finalised its evaluation guidelines for the accreditation of 
education and training institutions offering Speech Language and 
Hearing programmes, and provided training to potential evaluators 
on the evaluation guidelines. Concerns raised regarding evaluator 
reporting will be addressed by the Board, which will continue to 
engage with accredited institutions and monitor progress through 
annual reports submitted.

The next round of evaluations are as follows:

• University of Pretoria (Hearing Aid Acousticians Programme) and 
Stellenbosch University (Cochlear Implant Programme): 2015

• University of Pretoria; University of Cape Town and University of 
KwaZulu-Natal: 2016

• University of Limpopo; University of the Witwatersrand; 
Stellenbosch University: 2017

• University of Fort Hare: 2018



58

SECTION FOUR

KEEPING ACCURATE REGISTERS

Apart from ensuring that only appropriately qualified practitioners are registered within the respective professions, the Board also has ensured 
that the foreign qualified practitioners are registered in terms of the relevant legislation and the latest policies of both the Board and the National 
Department of Health. The Board has no new or amended registers for the period under review.  

APPROVAL OF THE BUDGET FOR 2013/14 AND INCREASE FOR 2013

The Board operated within its budget, and approved the revised budget and increased the annual fees for registers under its ambit as follows: 

Abbrev Register 2012 2013 2014

STA Speech Therapist and Audiologist R1157                                 R1215 R1215

SSTA Supplementary Speech Therapist and Audiologist R1157 R1215 R1215

AU Audiologist R1157 R1215 R1215

SAU Supplementary Audiologist R1157 R1215 R1215

GAK Hearing Aid Acoustician R1157 R1215 R1215

SGAK Supplementary Hearing Aid Acoustician R1157 R1215 R1215

SGG Community Speech and Hearing Workers R400 R420 R420

SGK Speech and Hearing Correctionist R400 R420 R420

AM Audiometrician R400 R420 R420

STB Speech Therapy Assistant R362 R380 R380

ST Speech Therapist R1157 R1215 R1215



59

SECTION FIVE

C
O

RP
O

RA
TE

 O
VE

RV
IE

W

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Adv. Tshepo Boikanyo
Chief Operations Officer

The HPCSA, in conjunction with its 12 Professional Boards, is 
committed to promoting the health of the population, determining 
standards of professional education and training, and setting and 
maintaining excellent standards of ethical and professional practice. 

In order to safeguard the public and indirectly the professions, 
registration in terms of the Act is a prerequisite for practising any of 
the health professions with which Council is concerned. 

PRIMARY MANDATE

The Council guides and regulates the health professions in the 
country in aspects pertaining to registration, education and training, 
professional conduct and ethical behaviour, ensuring Continuing 
Professional Development, and fostering compliance with healthcare 
standards. All individuals who practise any of the health care 
professions incorporated in the scope of the HPCSA are obliged 
by the Health Professions Act No. 56 of 1974 to register with the 
Council. Failure to do so constitutes a criminal offence.

The HPCSA has adhered to statutory duties and responsibilities 
imposed by the Health Professions Act, Companies Act and Public 
Finance Management Act, whenever these are applicable. HPCSA 
is also guided on best practices by international developments as 
well as the King reports on Corporate Governance for South Africa 
(King II – 2002 and King III – 2009) and the Protocol on Corporate 
Governance in the Public Sector – 2002.In adopting the best 
practice governance requirements, HPCSA has over the years been 
successfully implementing and reporting on governance principles, 
in line with the above-mentioned legislative framework and, more 
particularly, section 13 of the HPCSA Act 56 of 1974, as amended. 
During the financial year, the HPCSA has continued to identify areas 

of improvement or ways in which our governance practices could be 
streamlined to ensure that it is compliant with the obligations placed 
on the organisation by King III, especially in terms of IT governance. 

The HPCSA subscribes to a governance system whereby ethics and 
integrity set the standards for compliance, and constantly reviews 
and adapts its structures and processes to facilitate ethical leadership 
and sustainability.

Council recognises its responsibility to conduct its affairs with 
fiscal prudence, transparency, accountability, fairness and social 
responsibility, thereby safeguarding the interests of all its stakeholders. 
We believe that our endorsement of the Code of Corporate 
Governance instils confidence in our legislative mandate of protecting 
the public and guiding the professions. The HPCSA is fully committed 
to the core values of integrity; impartiality; effectiveness; respect; 
accountability and responsibility.

MANAGING RISK

To enhance internal controls, the Administration conducts a risk 
analysis of the operations of Council in order to mitigate the risks 
which threaten our business. A risk management plan was developed 
identifying the risks with full action plans to enhance control measures. 
The risk management plan is also linked to individual’s performance 
to ensure accountability for the success of the plan. 

ONE WHO IS HUNGRY FOR GROWTH, 
DOESN’T REQUIRE MOTIVATION 
AND TRAINING. HE JUST NEEDS AN 
OPPORTUNITY...

HONEYA
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During the year under review, the Health Professions Council of South Africa met four times.

In terms of Regulation 10 (1) (a) 2 of the Regulations relating to the establishment, objects, functions and powers of the Health Professions Council 
of South Africa, the Council may from time to time establish committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities.

The table reflects committees utilised by the Council. During the year under review, apart from the members, the Registrar and Executive Management 
also attended the meetings of Council and its committees and participated actively.

Attendance by members at Council and Committee meetings were as follows:

C
O

U
N

C
IL

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

C
O

M
M

IT
TE

E

EX
EC

U
TI

V
E 

C
O

M
M

IT
TE

E

A
U

D
IT

 A
N

D
 R

IS
K

 
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 

FI
N

A
N

C
E,

 I
N

V
ES

TM
EN

T 
A

N
D

 T
A

R
IF

F

TE
N

D
ER

 C
O

M
M

IT
TE

E

P
R
O

P
ER

TY
 C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E

DELEGATION TITLE INITIALS SURNAME 4 1 4 4 4 3 1

President Prof M. S. M. Mokgokong 4/4 1/1 3/4

Vice President & Psychology Board Prof T. Sodi 3/4 1/1 4/4 3/3
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Dental Therapy & Oral Hygiene Ms V. Amrit 3/4

Dietetics & Nutrition Prof E. Wentzel-Viljoen 4/4

Emergency Care Mr C.V. Lambert 4/4

Emergency Care Mr A. I. Molotana 4/4

Emergency Care Mr R. Naidoo 4/4 3/4 3/4

Environmental Health Practitioners Mr J. Chaka 3/4

Medical & Dental Professions Board Prof U. M. E. Chikte 4/4 3/4 4/4

Medical & Dental Professions Board Prof L. M. Moja 3/4 3/4 4/4

Medical Technology Ms R. Bridgemohan 2/4

Occupational Therapy, Medical 
Orthotics, Prosthetics & Arts Therapy Prof T. A. Ramukumba 3/4

Optometry & Dispensing Opticians Ms V. R. Moodley 4/4

Physiotherapy, Podiatry & Biokinetics Prof N. P. Taukobong 3/4

Radiography & Clinical Technology Ms R. M. Kekana 3/4

Speech, Language & Hearing 
Professions Prof S. Singh 3/4 1/1 4/4

MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION
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DELEGATION TITLE INITIALS SURNAME 4 1 4 4 4 3 1

C
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S Ms M. M. Isaacs 3/4 3/4 1/1

Mr K. P. Legodu 4/4 4/4 3/3

Mr M. D. Mhlanga 3/4 2/3

Mr R. L. Mjethu 4/4

Mr M. W. Mkhombo 4/4

Rev G. Moerane 2/4

Ms T. S. Mtshali 4/4

Mr D. N. Serenyane 3/4 3/4 2/4 1/1

Ms L. M. *Dikweni 1/4

Higher Education South Africa Prof N. Gwele 2/4 2/3

Higher Education South Africa Prof K Mfenyana 4/4 1/1 4/4

Higher Education South Africa Prof G. J. Van Zyl 4/4 1/4

Person from the South African Military 
Health Service Vacant Vacant

Person in the employment of the Department 
of Education Dr. D. Parker 3/4

Person in the employment of the Department 
of Health Dr A.T. Lekalakala 2/4 4/4

Person Versed in Law Mr S. Ramasala 3/4 3/4 3/4
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In accordance with the relevant terms of reference, persons who are not members of Council have been co-opted to serve on the Council 
Committees. 

Attendance of the co-opted members of the committees was as follows:
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DELEGATION TITLE INITIALS SURNAME 4 3 5 2 3 4

Co-opted to Health Committee Prof G Lindegger 4/5

Co-opted to Health Committee Prof M Matoane 5/5

Co-opted to Health Committee Prof S Rataemane 5/5

Co-opted to Health Committee Prof D White 3/5

Co-opted to Human Rights, Ethics and Professional 
Practice Committee Prof A Dhai 2/3

Co-opted to Human Rights, Ethics and Professional 
Practice Committee Prof D McQuoid-Mason 1/3

External Member to Tender Committee Ms I. Nzotta 2/3

External Member to Audit & Risk Management 
Committee Adv S. Gugwini-Peter 3/4

External Member to Audit & Risk Management 
Committee Mr S. Ngwenya 3/4

External Member to Audit & Risk Management 
Committee (Chairperson) Ms B. Shongwe 4/4

DHET Representative Ms E.L. Van Staden 1/3
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The reports and statements set out below comprise the annual financial statements presented to the Health Professions Council of South Africa:
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Audit and Risk Committee Report 66

Councilors’ Responsibilities and Approval 69

Independent Auditors’ Report 70

Councilors’ Report 72

Statement of Financial Position 74

Statement of Comprehensive Income 75

Statement of Changes in Equity 76

Statement of Cash Flows 77

Accounting Policies 78

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 84

The following supplementary information does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited: Detailed 
Income Statement

95

Published
September 30, 2014
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

1. Members of the Audit and Risk Committee

The members of the Audit and Risk committee of the Health Professions Council of South Africa comprises of independent and non-executive 
members:

Name Office Designation
Ms B Shongwe Chairperson Independent

Mr D Serenyane Member Non-executive

Prof G van Zyl Member Non-executive

Dr LM Moja Member Non-executive

Adv S Gugwini-Peter Member Independent

Mr S Ngwenya Member Independent

The committee is satisfied that the members thereof have the required knowledge and experience as set out in King III, principle 3.2 paragraph 12.

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee is in terms of Health Professions Act 56 of 1974 as amended, section 13. The Audit and Risk Committee 
has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference which have been confirmed by Council Members, and has performed its responsibilities as set 
out in the terms of reference. In executing its duties during the reporting period, the Committee has done the following:

Audit

• Monitored the effectiveness of the scope, plans, budget, coverage, independence, skills, staffing, overall performance and position of the 
internal audit and compliance functions within the organisation.

• Recommended to Council the appointment of the internal auditors.
• Monitored the effectiveness of the external auditors - including their skills, independence, audit plan, budget, reporting, overall performance - 

and approved external audit fees.
• Reviewed audit findings and management’s action plans.
• Reviewed whether the work performed by internal audit and by external audit is appropriate and ensured that no significant gaps in audit 

assurance exist between internal and external audit.
• Obtained an assessment of the strength and weaknesses of systems, controls and other factors from the auditors and management that might 

be relevant to the integrity of the financial statements.
• Ensured that the external auditors and internal audit had direct access to either the Audit and Risk Committee or Chairperson of the Audit and 

Risk Committee.

Financial

• Reviewed the financial statements and reporting for proper and complete disclosure of timely, reliable and consistent information.
• Evaluated the appropriateness, adequacy and efficiency of the accounting policies and procedures, compliance with overall accounting 

standards and any changes thereto.
• Reviewed the annual financial statements before submission to Council for any change in accounting policies and practices, significant areas 

of judgement, significant audit adjustments, the internal control and going concern statements, the risk management report, the corporate 
governance report, compliance with accounting and disclosure standards, and compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements.

• Reviewed the recommendations of the external auditor and those of any regulatory authority for significant findings and management’s 
proposed remedial actions.

• Enquired about the existence and substance of significant accounting accruals, impairments or estimates that could have a material impact on 
the financial statements.

• Reviewed any pending litigation, contingencies, claims and assessments, and the presentation of such matters in the financial statements.
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• Considered qualitative judgements by management on the acceptability and appropriateness of current or proposed accounting principles 
and disclosures.

• Obtained an analysis from management and the auditors of significant financial reporting issues and practices in a timely manner.

Governance

• Provided a channel of communication between Council and management and the internal and external auditors.
• Received regular reporting from each of the above functions and monitored that issues and concerns raised were resolved by management 

in a timely manner.

For the year ended 31 March 2014

The Committee’s assessment is that the overall control environment of Council needs improvements. The Committee is satisfied that since the 
previous year of reporting significant progress has been made in improving the internal control environment to prevent, detect and report areas 
of non-compliance. Further significant reforms will be introduced during the financial year ending 31 March 2015 which includes stabilisation 
of the IT environment, closing of the accounting periods on time and performing accounts reconcilliations, alignment of financial accounts 
with the accrual reporting framework and timeous payment of suppliers. Backlogs in resolving unapplied cash deposits and unidentified cash 
receipts is underway, however, amounts are still significantly high.

Accordingly, the full disclosure requirements of the Health Professions Act 56 of 1974 as amended have been met during the financial year 
under review. This is supported by the findings from the internal auditors as well as the external auditors. The effectiveness of the aforementioned 
measures continues to be in a constant state of improvement. The Committee has resolved to ensure that the comprehensive implementation of 
and adherence to the internal control environment reforms be expedited.

The Committee is satisfied that the annual financial statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements and estimates. The Committee evaluated Council’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 
and, based on the information provided therein, believes that the financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the relevant 
provisions of the Health Professions Act 56 of 1974 and International Financial Reporting Standards.

2. Meetings held by the Audit Committee

The audit committee performs the duties laid upon it by King III, principle 3.5 by holding meetings with the key role players on a regular basis 
and by the unrestricted access granted to the external auditors.

The committee held 4 scheduled meetings during 2014.

Name Office Meeting 1 
30/05/2013

Meeting 2 
03/09/2013

Meeting 3 
26/11/2013

Meeting 4 
03/03/2014

Total 4 of 4

Ms N Madiba Chairperson P N/M N/M N/M 1 of 4

Ms B Shongwe Chairperson P P P P 4 of 4

Adv S Gugwini-Peter Member P P P A/P 3 of 4

Mr S Ngwenya Member A P P P 3 of 4

Mr D Serenyane Member A/P P P A/P 2 of 4

Dr LM Moja Member P P P P 4 of 4

Dr TKS Letlape Member P P N/M N/M 2 of 4

Prof G van Zyl Member N/A N/A N/A P 1 of 4

* N/A = Not appointed
* A/P = Absent with apology
* P = Present
* A = Absent
* N/M = No longer a member



68

SECTION SEVEN

3. Discharge of responsibilities

The Committee agrees that the adoption of the going-concern premise is appropriate in preparing the annual financial statements. The Audit and 
Risk Committee has therefore recommended the adoption of the annual financial statements by Council Members on the 30 September 2014.

The audit committee in consultation with executive management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. The audit fee for the external audit has 
been considered and approved taking into consideration such factors as the timing of the audit, the extent of the work required and the scope.

4. Annual Financial Statements

Following the review of the annual financial statements the Audit and Risk Committee recommend Council approval thereof. On behalf of the Audit 
and Risk Committee

Ms B Shongwe
Chairman Audit and Risk Committee

Pretoria
Tuesday, September 30, 2014
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Prof. Mochichi Samuel Mokgokong
President, HPCSA

COUNCILORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The Registrar is required in terms of the Health Professions Act 
no 56 of 1974 to maintain adequate accounting records and 
is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial 
statements and related financial information included in this report. 
It is her responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Council as at the end of 
the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express 
an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Registrar acknowledges that she is ultimately responsible for 
the system of internal financial control established by the Council 
and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the Registrar to meet these responsibilities, the  
sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error 
or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties 
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Council and all employees are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Council’s business 
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 
above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Council is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 
of risk across the Council. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the Council endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour 
are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The Registrar is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides 
reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system 
of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Registrar has reviewed the Council’s cash flow forecast for the year to March 31, 2015 and, in the light of this review and the current 
financial position, she is satisfied that the Council has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 74 to 94 have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Prof MS Mokgokong
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE COUNCIL MEMBERS OF HEALTH PROFESSIONS COUNCIL OF SOUTH AFRICA

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements of Health Professions Council of South Africa, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at March 31, 2014 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and Councillor’s report, as set out 
on pages 74 to 94.

Councilors’ Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements

The Councilors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and requirements of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974, and such internal control as the Councilors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the annual financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Health Professions Council of South 
Africa as at March 31, 2014, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Health Professions Act no 56 of 1974.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion above, we draw your attention to the following matters that are ancillary to our responsibility of expressing an 
opinion on the financial statements:

Trade Receivables

It was identified during the audit that the underlying accounting records for Unapplied Receipts, Unidentified Receipts, Sundry Revenue, Annual 
Fees, Unearned Revenue do not always agree to the control account. Additionally there are long outstanding debtors that are neither provided for 
nor written off. Further there are inadequate audit trails and significant system errors.

The above points to a significant control deficiency that exists. Alternative procedures had to be applied in order to obtain the evidence required 
to validate and satisfy ourselves as to the balance of trade receivables.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Cash Clearing Account

A balance of R362, 105.24 remains unresolved on the clearing account. The amount cannot be substantiated by appropriate audit evidence 
as a result of incorrect processing and errors arising from system deficiencies.

Road Accident Fund

We draw attention to Note 21 of the Annual Financial Statements which records an adjustment recognising Road Accident Fund revenue and 
expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2013. We were unable to verify the validity of the adjustment as revenue and expenditure, which 
should be disclosed on the Statement of Financial Performance, are disclosed as Assets and Liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position. 
The adjustment has been effected without the required reconciliation and approval by Council. This is indicative of a lack of adequate internal 
controls on the Road Accident Fund.

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the annual financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2014, we have read the Councilors’ Report and the 
Audit & Risk Committee’s Report for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited 
annual financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers.

Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited annual financial 
statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

O.M.A Chartered Accountants Incorporated 
Registered Accountants and Auditors

Per: Osman Moosa CA(SA)
Pretoria
September 30, 2014
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COUNCILORS’ REPORT

The Council Members have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of Health Professions Council of South Africa for 
the year ended March 31, 2014.

1. Main business and operations

The Health Professions Council of South Africa is a non profit-making statutory body governed by the Health Professions Act, 1974. The objectives 
of the Council (as contained in the Act) may be summarised as follows:

(a) To promote the health of the population;
(b) Determine standards of professional education and training; and
(c) Set and maintain excellent standards of ethical and professional practice.

The operating results and state of affairs of the company are fully set out in the attached annual financial statement.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Council’s business from the prior year.

2. Review of financial results and activities

Revenue

The operations of the Council are funded by revenue from health practitioners. Revenue is primarily comprised of annual fees, examination fees, 
restoration fees, registration fees, and penalty fees. Revenue from annual fees, registration and interest received from funds invested constitute 94% 
of the total revenue. The percentage contributions from these main sources of revenue are 78%, 8% and 7% respectively. This trend is in line with 
the previous financial years. During the year under review, the revenue increased by 4,8% from R170,4 million to 178,6 million.

The annual fees increased from R145,6 million to R154,7 million mainly due to increase in the number of registered health practitioners as well 
as an increase in membership fees. Registration fees decreased by 5.3% from R17,6 million to R16,7 million.  Fees from penalties imposed to 
practitioners increased from R1,2 million to R2,1 million.

Expenses

Operating expenses increased to R183,4 million from R169,3 million representing an increase of 8,3%. The main reasons for the increase are 
as follows:

• Employment cost increased by 12,83% due to vacancies in the previous year that were filled in the current year; and annual salary increment. 
The appointment of new staff resulted in an increase of R325k for placement fees.

• Computer costs increased to R1,9 million from R1,5 million due to the maintenance and changes required to the workflow system.
• The legal costs increased to R17,2 million from R13,7 million being an increase of 25,19%. The increase is due to additional legal cases 

being pursued by the Council.
• The bad debts increased with R1,2 million due to the impairment of long outstanding debts receivable that is older than 90 days.
• The labour relations expenses increased by R963,6k due to increase in labour related cases.
• The bank charges increased by R1,1 million to R2 million from R929,8k due to high volume of cash deposits and reversal of debit orders.
• Reversal of revenue due to suspension of membership as a result of non-payment by 9,663 health practitioners and 1,005 voluntary suspension 

represented an increase in the reduction of revenue of 32% from R5,2 million in the previous financial year to R6,8 million in the current financial 
year. Health Practitioners from Emergency Board constituted 69,30% compared to 53,56% in the previous financial year.
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Surplus generated

The net surplus generated by Council decreased by 34% year on year from R23,8 million in the previous financial  year to R15,6 million in the 
current financial year ended 31 March 2014. The realised net surplus of R15,6 million is higher than the budgeted surplus of R1 million. The 
favourable deviation of actual experience from planned net surplus is largely due to expenditures savings by Professional Boards and Council 
Administration Departments.

3. Councillors

The Council Members in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Council members Office Designation
Prof MS Mokgokong President Non-executive

Prof T Sodi Vice President Non-executive

Prof E Wentzel-Viljoen, Prof S Singh Non-executive

Ms V Amrit, Dr AT Lekalakala Non-executive

Mr R Naidoo, Ms TS Mtshali Non-executive

Mr AI Molotana, Ms MM Isaacs Non-executive

Mr C Lambert, Mr DN Serenyane Non-executive

Mr J Chaka, Mr RL Mjethu Non-executive

Dr TKS Letlape, Mr KP Legodu Non-executive

Prof UME Chikte, Rev G Moerane Non-executive

Mr S Ramasala, Mr MW Mkhombo Non-executive

Ms R Bridgemohan, Dr D Parker Non-executive

Prof TA Ramukumba, MD Mhlanga Non-executive

Ms VR Moodley, Prof N Gwele Non-executive

Prof NP Taukobong, Dr LM Moja Non-executive

Ms RM Kekana, Prof K Mfenyana Non-executive

Prof G van Zyl Executive

4. Events after the reporting period

The Council Members are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

5. Auditors

OMA Chartered Accountants Incorporated will continue in office.

6. Secretary

The company secretary is Mr Ntsikelelo Sipeka.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT MARCH 31, 2014

Note(s) 2014 2013
Figures in Rand

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 12,715,307 13,255,787

Intangible assets 4 1 1

Other financial assets 5 923,287 757,050

13,638,595 14,012,838

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 6 8,307,308 4,843,593

Cash and cash equivalents 7 339,949,524 310,260,992

348,256,832 315,104,585

Total Assets 361,895,427 329,117,423

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Reserves 680,421 514,184

Retained surplus 189,904,380 174,496,514

190,584,801 175,010,698

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 15,712,425 11,639,033

Income received in advance 8 127,491,813 117,110,960

Provisions 9 28,106,388 25,356,732

171,310,626 154,106,725

Total Equity and Liabilities 361,895,427 329,117,423
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014

Note(s) 2014
Restated 

2013
Figures in Rand

Revenue 11 178,572,836 170,399,779

Other income 5,383,833 8,363,702

Operating expenses (183,426,164) (169,305,405)

Operating surplus 12 530,505 9,458,076

Investment revenue 13 14,877,361 14,073,533

Surplus for the year 15,407,866 23,531,609

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Available-for-sale financial assets adjustments 166,237 224,644

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation 17 166,237 224,644

Total comprehensive surplus for the year 15,574,103 23,756,253
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014

Fair value 
adjustment 

assets- 
available-for- 

sale reserve
Retained 

surplus Total equity
Figures in Rand

Balance at April 01, 2012 289,540 150,964,905 151,254,445

Surplus for the year - 24,709,097 24,709,097

Other comprehensive income 224,644 - 224,644

Total comprehensive surplus for the year 224,644 24,709,097 24,933,741

Opening balance as previously reported Adjustments 514,184 175,674,002 176,188,186

Prior year adjustments - (1,177,488) (1,177,488)

Balance at April 01, 2013 as restated 514,184 174,496,514 175,010,698

Surplus for the year - 15,407,866 15,407,866

Other comprehensive income 166,237 - 166,237

Total comprehensive surplus for the year 166,237 15,407,866 15,574,103

Balance at March 31, 2014 680,421 189,904,380 190,584,801

Note(s) 17 17
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014

Note(s) 2014 2013
Figures in Rand

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 162,015,879 145,402,061

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (146,122,479) (109,722,885)

Cash generated from operations 18 15,893,400 35,679,176

Interest income 14,849,875 14,054,010

Dividends received 27,486 19,523

Net cash from operating activities 30,770,761 49,752,709

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (1,082,229) (1,581,301)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 3 - 4,066

Net movement in financial assets - (31,484)

Net cash from investing activities (1,082,229) (1,608,719)

Total cash movement for the year 29,688,532 48,143,990

Cash at the beginning of the year 310,260,992 262,117,002

Total cash at end of the year 7 339,949,524 310,260,992
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the Health Professions 
Act of 1974. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal accounting policies 
set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period unless otherwise stated.

1.1 -Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the 
annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements.

Trade receivables, Held to maturity investments and Loans and receivables

The Council assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Council makes judgements as to whether there is 
observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical 
loss ratios, adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with 
defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Council follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired. This determination requires 
significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Council evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an 
investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and 
sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices 
at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the council is the current bid price.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value- in-use calculations 
and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions.

The Council reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and 
liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of 
assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially 
change over time.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure of these estimates of 
provisions are included in note 9 - Provisions.
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1.2 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Council; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost except for the Presidential Badge which is recorded at value. Assets acquired at a 
cost less than R 1000 are expensed during the year of purchase.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment. When parts of an item of property, plant 
and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate components of  property, plant and equipment and depreciated 
accordingly.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from the disposal with 
the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised in profit and loss. When revalued property, plant and equipment 
are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation surplus reserve are transferred to accumulated surplus.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefit associated with the items 
will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be reliably measured. All other repairs and maintenance cost are recognised in profit and 
loss as incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The useful lives of items of property, 
plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life
Land Indefinite

Buildings 50 years

Furniture and fixtures 10 years

Office equipment and lifts 5 years

IT equipment 3 years

Works of art 10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the expectations differ 
from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is 
derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.3 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:
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Item Useful life
Computer software 12

1.4 Financial instruments 

Classification

The Council classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
• Held-to-maturity investment
• Loans and receivables
• Available-for-sale financial assets

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial recognition.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, which are 
measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the Council’s right to receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. This excludes equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity until the asset is 
disposed of or determined to be impaired. Interest on available-for-sale financial assets calculated using the effective interest method is recognised 
in profit or loss as part of other income. Dividends received on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss as part of other 
income when the Council’s right to receive payment is established.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Council 
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair value determination

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the Council assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to determine whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the Council, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default of 
payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is 
considered an indicator of impairment. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or 
loss - is removed from equity as a reclassification adjustment to other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised.  This is subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the 
impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for equity investments classified as available-for-sale.

Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed for available-for-sale equity investments which are held at cost because fair value was 
not determinable.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating 
expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that 
the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or 
loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised in the profit and loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded 
at fair value.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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Held to maturity

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

At subsequent reporting dates these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised 
to reflect irrecoverable amounts. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and 
is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of    the investment at the date the impairment 
is reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial assets that the company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity.

1.5 Impairment of assets

The Council assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the Council estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Council also:
• tests intangible assets.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That 
reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than 
goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.6 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:
• the Council has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement shall be 
recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement 
shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.
 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

1.7 Revenue

Revenue from membership fees, registration fees, examinations fees and penalties are recognised when all the following conditions have been 
satisfied:
• the Council has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• the Council retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the 

goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Council, and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for goods and services 
provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value added tax.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Council’s right to receive payment has been established.

Unidentified credit balances which are older than one year and cannot be traced to the individual members are recognised as revenue.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the 
company’s accounting periods beginning on or after April 01, 2014 or later periods:

Standard/Interpretation:
Effective date:
Years beginning on or after Expected impact:

•  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 01, 2015 None

•  Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to 
IAS 32)

January 01, 2014 None

•  IAS 36 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non- Financial Assets January 01, 2014 None

•  IFRIC 21 Levies January 01, 2014 None

• IAS 39 – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting

January 01, 2014 None

•  IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 – Investment Entities January 01, 2014 None

3. Property, plant and equipment

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Cost /

Valuation
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost/
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Land 3,545,008 - 3,545,008 3,545,008 - 3,545,008

Buildings 7,767,091 (1,757,474) 6,009,617 7,767,091 (1,602,132) 6,164,959

Furniture and fixtures 3,713,973 (2,766,133) 947,840 3,573,977 (2,548,221) 1,025,756

Office equipment 5,204,885 (3,953,053) 1,251,832 4,822,692 (3,518,415) 1,304,277

IT equipment 10,092,153 (9,135,322) 956,831 9,566,517 (8,351,323) 1,215,194

Works of art 104,482 (100,304) 4,178 99,882 (99,290) 592

Presidential badge 1 - 1 1 - 1

Total 30,427,593 (17,712,286) 12,715,307 29,375,168 (16,119,381) 13,255,787

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2014

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Land 3,545,008 - - - 3,545,008

Buildings 6,164,959 - - (155,342) 6,009,617

Furniture and fixtures 1,025,756 139,996 - (217,912) 947,840

Office equipment 1,304,277 382,193 - (434,638) 1,251,832

IT equipment 1,215,194 555,440 (6,751) (807,052) 956,831

Works of art 592 4,600 - (1,014) 4,178



85 AN
N

U
AL

 F
IN

AN
C

IA
L S

TA
TE

M
EN

TS

SECTION SEVEN

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2014 (continued)

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Presidential badge 1 - - - 1

13,255,787 1,082,229 (6,751) (1,615,958) 12,715,307

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2013

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Land 3,545,008 - - - 3,545,008

Buildings 6,320,301 - - (155,342) 6,164,959

Furniture and fittings 1,170,431 94,467 - (239,142) 1,025,756

Office equipment 876,095 839,542 - (411,360) 1,304,277

IT equipment 1,392,113 647,292 (4,570) (819,641) 1,215,194

Works of art 1,398 - - (806) 592

Presidential badge 1 - - - 1

13,305,347 1,581,301 (4,570) (1,626,291) 13,255,787

Compensation received for losses on property, plant and equipment – included in operating profit.

4.Intangible assets
 

Figures in Rand

2014 2013
Cost/

Valuation
Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Cost/
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Computer software - 
Oracle 7,657,718 (7,657,717) 1 7,657,718 (7,657,717) 1

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Total

Computer software - Oracle 1 1
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Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2013

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Amortisation

Impairment 
loss Total

Computer software - Oracle 3,675,705 (459,463) (3,216,241) 1

5. Other financial assets

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Amortisation

Impairment 
loss Total

Available-for-sale

Listed Shares - 15018 Sanlam Shares

923,287 757,050
Free shares allocated to Council during Sanlam’s 
demutualisation process

Non-current assets

Available-for-sale 923,287 757,050

6. Trade and other receivables

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Amortisation

Impairment 
loss Total

Trade receivables 5,992,800 4,156,777

Advances to Council members, managers and employees 73,282 78,807

Prepayments 337,600 385,156

Deposits 75,180 75,180

VAT 1,795,639 -

African Medical Council of Association (AMCOA) 32,807 147,673

8,307,308 4,843,593

7. Cash and cash equivalents

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Amortisation

Impairment
loss Total

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 2,500 3,500

Bank balances 40,733,359 46,203,976

Short-term deposits 299,213,665 264,053,516

339,949,524 310,260,992
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Amortisation

Impairment
loss Total

Cash and cash equivalents pledged as collateral

Guarantee to SA Post Office Limited 2,000,000 1,000,000

No expiry date and no special conditions apply

Limited Cession of ABSA Bank Ltd fixed deposit for R500,000 
(2064961351) 

Limited Cession of ABSA Bank Ltd fixed deposit for 
R1,500,000 (2064951992)

8. Income received in advance

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Opening 
balance Amortisation

Impairment
loss Total

Unapplied receipts 123,534,588 110,312,769

Unidentified receipts 3,957,225 6,798,191

127,491,813 117,110,960

Unapplied receipts

Represents receipts in advance from members for their next years membership fees. These receipts are allocated when bulk billing is done 
in the next financial year.

Unidentified receipts

Represents receipts from members who cannot be identified at this stage. These members normally claim these receipts when their fees 
remain unpaid and they receive reminders.

Included in this amount is also practitioners who paid, but are not yet registered. Receipts can only be applied once registration is 
complete.

9. Provisions

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

Opening 
balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year Total
Reconciliation of provisions - 2014

Provision for employees labour cases - 740,208 - 740,208

ERP License fees 7,000,000 1,122,602 - 8,122,602

Disciplinary matters 8,396,500 12,975,000 (8,396,500) 12,975,000

MDB Reserves 1,730,000 655,000 (1,730,000) 655,000
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9. Provisions (continued)

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

Opening 
balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year Total
Provision for implementation of salary benchmarking - 3,602,279 - (3,602,279)

Provisions for accrued leave 4,345,499 5,372,168 (4,345,499) 5,372,168

Provision for 13th cheque payment 282,454 241,410 (282,454) 241,410

25,356,732 21,106,388 (18,356,732) 28,106,388

Reconciliation of provisions - 2013

ERP License Fees - 7,000,000 - 7,000,000

Disciplinary matters 6,609,000 4,525,139 (2,737,639) 8,396,500

MDB Reserves 1,200,000 530,000 - 1,730,000

Provisions for implementation of salary benchmarking - 3,602,279 - 3,602,279

Provisions for accrued leave 3,516,253 2,160,518 (1,331,272) 4,345,499

Provisions for 13th cheque payments 266,734 15,720 - 282,454

11,591,987 17,833,656 (4,068,911) 25,356,732

ERP License fees

A compliance audit was done by the software service provider, and the service provider indicated that Council does not comply with its 
licensing requirements. Management is disputing the audit methodology and amount of the license fees due.
Provision for disciplinary matters

Provision for professional conduct expenses for cases that have commenced during the current year and which will be concluded in future 
years.

MDB reserves

Provision for perverse incentive investigations and inspections for cases that have commenced during the current year and which will be 
concluded in future years.

Provision for client refunds

Provision for client refunds to exempt practitioners are in respect of practitioners who are exempted from the payment of annual fees once 
they reach a specified age. In order to qualify for this exemption, practitioners are required to make a written application to the Council. 
Applications, once approved, are effective retrospectively from the date that the practitioner became eligible for the exemption and refunds 
are paid on that basis.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. Provisions (continued)

Provision for implementation of salary benchmarking

In terms of HR policies, salary benchmarking should be done every three years. The benchmarking results was due for implementation on 1 
April 2012 and was implemented during the year under review.

Provision for employee labour cases

Provision for employee labour cases relate to the dismissal cases which were taken to CCMA by former employees.

Provision for 13th cheque payment

Provision for 13th cheque payment represents the amount due to the employees who elected this benefit of bonus savings. The payment date 
of this bonus savings is 01 December 2014.

Provision for accrued leave

This provision represents the liability for the total amount of leave days due to permanent employees.

Provision for restorations

Provision for restorations relate to suspended practitioners who have paid restoration fees but the receipts were not allocated as reference 
was not clear or conditions for restorations were not met.

10. Trade and other payables

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Trade payables 5,281,946 2,842,334

VAT - 3,633,153

Other payables 516,365 (32,015)

Accruals and other payables 9,914,114 5,195,561

15,712,425 11,639,033

11.   Revenue

Annual fees - Current year 154,733,548 145,588,093

Unidentified receipts recognised 1,636,659 2,306,461

Registration Fees 16,709,191 17,642,243

Annual fees - Prior year 3,436,930 3,627,332

Fees from penalties imposed 2,056,508 1,235,650

178,572,836 170,399,779

12.   Operating surplus

Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges
Equipment
•  Rental Machines 862,390 748,470
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12.   Operating surplus (continued)

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 6,751 504

Impairment on intangible assets - 3,216,241

Impairment on other financial assets - 31,484

Amortisation on intangible assets - 459,463

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1,615,958 1,626,291

Employee costs 91,465,473 81,062,648

13.   Investment revenue

Dividend revenue

Listed financial assets - Local 27,486 19,523

Interest revenue

Short term deposits 14,849,875 14,054,010

14,877,361 14,073,533

14.   Taxation

No provision has been made for tax as the Council is exempt from normal tax.

15.   A-uditors’ remuneration

Fees 333,516 640,026

16.   Operating lease

Copier equipment - Contractual amounts

Next year 780,081 850,998

Next 2 - 5 years - 894,002

780,081 1,745,000

Fixed term lease agreements for 36 months with the option to extend for an indefinite period, subject to the right of either party to 
terminate the agreement upon not less than 30 days written notice.

17. Other comprehensive income

Components of other comprehensive income - 2014

Gross Tax Net

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 

Available-for-sale financial assets adjustments

Gains and losses arising during the year on Sanlam shares 166,237 - 166,237
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17. Other comprehensive income (continued)

Components of other comprehensive income - 2013 Gross Tax Net

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Available-for-sale financial assets adjustments

Gains and losses arising during the year on Sanlam shares 224,644 - 224,644

18. Cash generated from operations

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Surplus for the year 15,407,866 23,531,609

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,615,958 2,085,754

Loss on sale of assets 6,751 504

Dividends received (27,486) (19,523)

Interest received - investment (14,849,875) (14,054,010)

Impairment loss - 3,247,725

Movements in provisions 2,749,656 13,764,745

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (3,463,715) 6,889,380

Trade and other payables 4,073,392 (1,239,594)

Income received in advance 10,380,853 1,472,586

15,893,400 35,679,176

 

19. Related parties

Relationships

President of Council
Prof MS 
Mokgokong

Related party balances

Amounts included in Trade receivable (Trade Payable) regarding related parties

Prof MS Mokgokong - 2,760

Related party transactions

Recoverable amounts

Prof MS Mokgokong - 2,760



92

SECTION SEVEN

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. Related parties (continued)

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Council/Professional Board member fees

Member fees 10,068,594 4,875,223

Preparation fees 2,151,699 1,053,150

Subsistence expenses 2,939,649 2,149,789

20. Councillors’ emoluments

No emoluments were paid to the directors or any individuals holding a prescribed office during the year.

Registrar

2014

Salaries

Pension 
fund and 

contribution
Medical aid 
contribution Total

Dr B Mjamba-Matshoba 1,403,920 85,890 29,057 1,518,867

2013

Dr B Mjamba-Matshoba Salaries

Pension 
fund and 

contribution
Medical aid 
contribution

Total 
Emoluments: 

Registrar
1,302,317 73,115 26,210 1,401,642

President

2014

Prof MS Mokgokong
President’s 
allowance Total

75,129 75,129

2013

President’s 
allowance Total

Prof MS Mokgokong 65,777 65,777
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21. Prior period errors

President’s 
allowance Total

The comparative figures for the Road Accident Fund has been reclassified for the prior year.

The effects of the reclassification are as follows:

Statement of Financial Position

Retained income - (1,177,488)

Trade and other receivables - 1,177,488

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

RAF recovery - 4,667,966

RAF expenses - (5,845,454)

22.   Unauthorised, irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Irregular expenditure

Opening Balance 1,086,429 -

Legal fees - labour - 238,564

Internal audit fees - 847,865

Meeting recordings 11,496 -

Condonment - -

1,097,925 1,086,429

Legal fees

Council policies and procedures were not followed with the apointment and payment of attorneys regarding the matter of acting Chief 
Executive Officer and General Manager: Legal. (Refer note 23)

Internal audit fees

Tender policies and procedures were not followed with the appointment of the internal auditors.

Supplier of Goods and Services

The supplier of meeting recordings and transcriptions that was appointed during the year under review was not on database of preferred 
suppliers.
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23. Contingent liabilities

Matter regarding acting Chief Executive Officer

The acting Chief Executive Officer was suspended with effect from 7 October 2011.

The matter went to the CCMA. The case was lost and Council was ordered to reinstate the acting Chief Executive Officer in the position of 
Chief Operations officer that was held prior to suspension and termination of services by Council.

The matter was taken to the Labour Court for review.

Should Council not succeed it will either have to reinstate or compensate the acting Chief Executive Officer. This could result in a material 
obligation.

Matter regarding General Manager: Legal

The General manager: Legal and now Chief Operations Officer has entered into a dispute with Council.

The Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA) ruled in favour of the official. This decision was also taken to the 
Labour Court for review.

Matter regarding Legal Advisor

Former employee lodged complaint against Council with CCMA for unfair dismissal and he won the matter at CCMA. This could result in 
material obligation.

Matter regarding Professional Board Manager

Former employee lodged complaint against Council with CCMA for unfair dismissal but the matter is pending decision.

Matter regarding Practitioner: Dr JF Scholtz

A claim has been lodged against the Council of the HPCSA due to incorrect registration status provided on behalf of a registered practitioner 
resulting in the loss of employment opportunity of the registered practitioner. The practitioner is claiming payment of the sum of R50 million.

Matter regarding Practitioner: Mr RP McMahon

Mr McMahon has instituted an action against Council and three other defendants in the KwaZulu-Natal High Court, Pietermaritzburg, in 
which he claims payment of the sum of R 11 million plus interest and costs.

Matter regarding Practitioner: Ms CJ Grobler
The practitioner experienced slow reaction of the Council to complaints against Dr Gordon. She is claiming damages estimated  
R768 000.00.
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SECTION SEVEN

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014
Restated 

2013

Revenue

Annual fees - Current year 154,733,548 145,588,093

Annual fees - Prior year 3,436,930 3,627,332

Fees from penalties imposed 2,056,508 1,235,650

Registration fees 16,709,191 17,642,243

Unidentified receipts recognised 1,636,659 2,306,461

11 178,572,836 170,399,779

Other income

RAF management fees 1,944,101 2,728,020

Profit on sale of assets 758 42,131

Rental income 38,650 210,430

RAF Recovery 3,157,365 4,667,966

Sundry revenue 77,821 490,416

Advertisement revenue (Bulletin) 28,547 116,587

Register sales 123,821 92,966

Tender fees 12,770 15,186

Dividends received 13 27,486 19,523

Interest received 13 14,849,875 14,054,010

20,261,194 22,437,235

Expenses (Refer to page 30) (183,426,164) (169,305,405)

Surplus for the year 15,407,866 23,531,609
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SECTION SEVEN

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014
Restated 

2013

Operating expenses

AMCOA conference 197,684 117,261

Air conditioning expenses 172,703 191,453

Auditors remuneration 15 333,516 640,026

Bad debts - increase/(decrease) in provision 43,648 311,440

Bank charges 2,732,277 1,764,925

Cash shortages 500 -

Cleaning 513,747 516,610

Consulting and professional fees 672,985 724,622

Council, professional board and committee meetings 34,166,188 23,777,909

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 1,615,958 5,333,479

Employee costs 91,465,473 81,062,648

Equipment and furniture less than R1000 36,720 32,356

IT expenses 4,384,441 8,973,877

Insurance 510,399 550,449

Internal Audit Fees 558,287 847,865

International Conferences 1,063,376 957,124

Lease rentals on operating lease 862,390 748,470

Legal expenses 19,366,566 14,920,513

Library costs 46,496 3,795

Loss on sale of assets 6,751 504

Municipal expenses 1,629,860 1,659,117

Postage 2,301,016 3,540,786

Printing and stationery 4,005,055 3,376,268

Public relations and promotions 3,752,072 4,426,887

RAF Expenses 1,746,733 5,845,454

Repairs and maintenance 1,111,454 1,103,742

Security 742,220 688,417

Strategic projects 1,356,272 677,687

Subscriptions 187,610 237,822

Suspensions 6,845,576 5,180,843

Telephone and fax 940,486 1,033,763

Tender administrative costs 57,705 59,293

183,426,164 169,305,405
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SECTION SEVEN

(+27) 12 338 9300
(+27) 12 338 9301

(+27) 12 328 5120 (Fax)

(553) of Hamilton and
Madiba Streets,

Arcadia
Pretoria

P O Box 205,
Pretoria,
0001

info@hpcsa.co.za


